Studies in Labour Markets



September 2011

Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States

2011 Edition

by Amela Karabegović, Alex Gainer, and Niels Veldhuis

Key Conclusions

- This study measures the labour market performance of Canadian provinces and US states from 2006 to 2010 based on five equally weighted indicators: average total employment growth, average private-sector employment growth, average unemployment rates, average duration of unemployment, and average labour productivity.
- Alberta topped the rankings of Canadian provinces and US states with an overall score of 9.0 out of 10.
- Three other Canadian provinces are in the top 10: Saskatchewan (2nd overall, score of 8.4), Manitoba (4th, score of 7.2), and British Columbia (6th, score of 7.0).
- While Canada's two largest provinces, Quebec (12th) and Ontario (16th) rank in the top 20, they continue to grapple with sluggish labour markets with overall scores of 5.8 and 5.5. Indeed, their rankings are more a reflection of poor labour market performance in the US than robust performance at home.
- The study also identifies four characteristics that affect labour market performance: public-sector employment, minimum wages, unionization, and labour relations laws.

Précis

This study examines the performance of labour markets in Canada and the United States based on a number of factors that help identify healthy, high-performing labour markets.

The first section, an index of labour market performance, measures the 60 jurisdictions across five indicators from 2006 to 2010: average total employment growth, average private-sector employment growth, average unemployment rate, average duration of unemployment, and average labour productivity. These five indicators yield an overall score for labour-market performance.

Alberta ranked first on the labour-market performance index with an overall score of 9.0 out of 10, owing to its top scores on employment growth and private-sector employment growth, second-place score in duration of unemployment, and top-10 placement in average unemployment rate. Three Canadian provinces besides Alberta are in the top 10: Saskatchewan (2nd overall, score of 8.4), Manitoba (4th, score of 7.2), and British Columbia (6th, score of 7.0)

While Canada's two largest provinces Quebec (12th) and Ontario (16th) rank in the top 20, they continue to grapple with sluggish labour markets with overall scores of 5.8 and 5.5. Indeed, their rankings are more a reflection of poor labour market performance in the United States than robust performance at home.

The second section of the study, labour-market characteristics and regulation, examines four key aspects of labour markets that contribute to their performance: public-sector employment levels, minimum wages, unionization levels, and labour-relations laws.

Public-sector employment in Canadian provinces is markedly higher than in most US states. Alberta was the highest-ranked Canadian province, ranking 31st. Seven of the bottom 10 jurisdictions, including last place Newfoundland & Labrador, were Canadian provinces.

Canadian provinces also fare poorly compared to US states on the measure of minimum wages. Nine of the 10 Canadian provinces occupy the bottom 10 rankings overall.

On the unionization measure, the top-ranked Canadian province was Alberta (24.5%). There is a stark divide between Canada—average total unionization rate of 31.5%—and the United States—average total unionization rate of 13.1%.

The high rate of unionization among Canadian provinces is the result of biased, overly prescriptive labour-relations laws that inhibit the proper and efficient functioning of the labour market by favouring one group over another and inhibiting innovation and flexibility.

Contents

Summary / 2

Introduction / 7

1 Index of Labour Market Performance / 15

- Indicator 1 Average total employment growth
- Indicator 2 Average private-sector employment growth
- Indicator 3 Average unemployment rate
- Indicator 4 Average duration of unemployment
- Indicator 5 Average GDP per worker

2 Labour market characteristics and regulation / 30

- Characteristic 1 Public-sector employment
- Characteristic 2 Minimum wages
- Characteristic 3 Unionization
- Characteristic 4 Labour relations laws

Appendix A Methodology / 54

Appendix B Other important factors / 55

References / 63

About this publication / 83

Summary

Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States: 2011 Edition is the seventh installment in our ongoing research to assess the performance of labour markets and explain why results differ among jurisdictions. Indicators of labour performance such as job creation, unemployment, and productivity are used to assess Canadian provincial and US state labour market performance. The second section of the study examines those characteristics and regulations of the labour market that have been shown to affect its performance.

Index of Labour Market Performance

The Index of Labour Market Performance is a composite measure of labour market performance based on five equally weighted indicators: [1] average total employment growth, [2] average private-sector employment growth, [3] average unemployment rate, [4] average duration of unemployment, and [5] average labour productivity.

Key results

- 1 Alberta topped the list of Canadian provinces and US states for labour market performance over the last five years. The province's strong performance in total employment growth (1st out of 60 jurisdictions), employment growth in the private sector (1st), low duration of unemployment (2nd), and average unemployment rate (6th) enabled it to achieve the highest overall score of 9.0 out of 10.
- 2 The US states in the West and the Midwest dominated the top of the rankings: three states from the West—Alaska, Utah, and Wyoming—and two from the Midwest—North Dakota, and South Dakota—were among the top 10. Three Canadian provinces besides Alberta are in the top 10, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and British Columbia.
- **3** Michigan scored the lowest of any jurisdiction (1.3). It ranked poorly across all five measures of labour market performance: average total employment growth (60th), average private-sector employment growth (60th), average unemployment rate (59th), average duration of unemployment (60th), and average labour productivity (33rd).

- 4 The lowest-ranked Canadian province was Prince Edward Island occupying the 36th position with a score of 4.9. It ranked last (60th) on labour productivity and had third highest (58th) average unemployment rate. On the remaining indicators, Prince Edward Island ranked 4th to 31st.
- 5 Regionally, the western Canadian provinces out-performed the other provinces. In addition to Alberta (1st), Saskatchewan (2nd), Manitoba (4th), and British Columbia (6th), performed relatively well with scores of 8.4, 7.2, and 7.0.
- 6 Within the United States, the Western states performed well: three of which were among the top 10. On the other hand, four of the Midwestern states (Missouri, Ohio, Indiana, and Michigan) were among the bottom 12 juris-dictions (three states were tied for the 49th place), as were six Southern states (Florida, Georgia, West Virginia, South Carolina, Alabama, and Mississippi), one state from the Northeast region (Rhode Island) and one state from the West (California).

Labour market characteristics and regulation

There are four key characteristics and regulations that affect labour market performance in each of the 60 jurisdictions: [1] public-sector employment, [2] minimum wages, [3] unionization, and [4] labour relations laws. In addition to the measurement of each indicator, each section presents a review of the research into the effects of the characteristic or regulation on labour market performance.

Public-sector employment

- 1 Pennsylvania topped the list of Canadian provinces and US states with the lowest percentage of its employment in the public sector (federal, subnational, and local) (11.5%).
- 2 Alberta was the highest-ranked Canadian province. Unfortunately, it ranked 31st with 15.6% of its total employment represented by the public sector. Following were British Columbia, 17.2% and ranking 42nd and Ontario, 19.0%, ranking 48th.
- **3** The Canadian province, Newfoundland & Labrador, occupied the last position, with public-sector employment representing 29.0% of total employment—over two-and-a-half times Pennsylvania's rate and nearly double that of Alberta.

- 4 Rounding out the top 11 (two states were tied for the 10th place) were three Northeastern states (Massachusetts, New Hampshire, and Rhode Island), six Midwest states (Missouri, Michigan, Indiana, Wisconsin, Illinois, and Minnesota) and one Western state (Nevada).
- 5 In general, Canada's performance for this characteristic was poor. Seven of the bottom 10 jurisdictions were Canadian provinces (Quebec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and Newfoundland & Labrador). Five of these provinces (Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and Newfoundland & Labrador) had public-sector employment that exceeded one-quarter of all employment.
- 6 There is a clear difference between the size of the public sector in Canada and in the United States. From 2006 to 2010, Canadian provinces had consistently higher levels of public-sector employment than the US states.

Minimum wages

- 1 New York topped the rankings; its minimum wage constituted the smallest percentage of average wages and salaries per worker (21.4%): a resident of New York earning the minimum wage could earn less than one quarter of the average wages and salaries per worker of the state.
- 2 Alberta was the highest-ranked Canadian province, occupying the 22nd position overall with a minimum wage equal to 27.2% of the province's average wages and salaries per worker.
- **3** Prince Edward Island was the lowest-ranked jurisdiction among the 60 Canadian provinces and US states. Prince Edward Island's minimum wage represented nearly half, 45.5%, of the province's average wages and salaries per worker.
- **4** The US states dominated the top of the rankings, holding all of the top 10 positions.
- 5 The Canadian provinces fared poorly on this measure with nine of the 10 Canadian provinces (Newfoundland, Ontario, British Columbia, New Brunswick, Quebec, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, and Prince Edward Island) occupying the bottom 10 rankings overall.
- **6** There was a large difference between minimum wages as a percentage of average wages and salaries per worker in Canada and those in the United States: the average Canadian province had a minimum wage equivalent to 39.1%

of its average wages and salaries per worker while the average US state had a minimum wage equivalent to 27.9% of its average wages and salaries per worker over the period from 2006 to 2010.

Unionization

- 1 North Carolina had the lowest ratio of unionized workers to total employment, with 4.5% of its employed workers unionized. Virginia was second, with 5.2% of its employment unionized.
- 2 The top-ranked Canadian province was Alberta—trailing at 49th with 24.5% of its employment unionized. In this regard, Alberta performed better than only two US states: Hawaii and New York.
- **3** Quebec occupied last place; 39.7% of its employed workforce is unionized.
- 4 Southern US states occupied 10 of the top 11 rankings (two states were tied for the 10th place): North Carolina, Virginia, Georgia, South Carolina, Arkansas, Texas, Louisiana, Tennessee, Florida, and Mississippi.
- 5 Not surprisingly, the Right-to-Work states—those that permit workers to choose whether or not they will join and financially support a union—dominated the top of the rankings. The 22 Right-to-Work states occupied all of the top 11 rankings and 18 of the top 20 rankings.
- **6** Canadian provinces performed poorly on this indicator, occupying nine of the bottom 10 positions.
- 7 The divide between Canada and the United States was evident in this measure. From 2006 to 2010, Canada's average total unionization rate was 31.5% compared to 13.1% for the United States.

Labour relations laws

- 1 In addition to being able to choose whether or not to join a union, which is a worker's right in all 50 US states, 22 states possess Right-to-Work laws (or worker-choice laws), which also prohibit mandatory payment of union dues as a condition of employment. Amongst the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states, these 22 Right-to-Work states have the labour relations laws best suited to promoting flexibility in the labour market; on this measure, each of the Right-to-Work states received a score of 9.2 out of 10.
- **2** The remaining 28 US states tied for 23^{rd} position with an overall score of 7.5.

- **3** The Canadian provinces occupied the last 10 positions (51st to 60th).
- **4** Alberta was the only province that scored above five (5.3).
- 5 Quebec (with a score of 1.3) had the most restrictive set of labour relations laws in Canada and the United States, followed closely by Manitoba (1.8) and Newfoundland & Labrador, New Brunswick, and British Columbia (2.8).

Introduction

Interest in labour markets ebbs and flows with the economy as a whole. The recent economic downturn and the economic recovery that followed, coupled with an aging population and globalization, have produced great interest in the way this country's labour market functions. Changing market conditions and demographic factors will continue to influence our labour market, which is why there is a need to measure the performance of the labour market. Measurement allows comparison, which is the first step toward understanding differences in labour market conditions and addressing possible problems.

This study provides an overview of labour market conditions in Canada and the United States. It examines the performance of labour markets in the two countries and offers explanations for that performance. Measuring differences in performance and examining explanations for those differences enables us to understand why conditions in the labour market are better in some regions than in others. As a result, we can begin to examine how public policy and other factors affect labour markets.

Organization

Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States is divided into two sections: the Index of Labour Market Performance and Labour Market Characteristics and Regulation. The first presents the performance measures for the Canadian provinces and US states across five indicators: [1] average total employment growth, [2] average private-sector employment growth, [3] average unemployment rate, [4] average duration of unemployment, and [5] average labour productivity. This section also gives an overall score for labour market performance that combines the five indicators listed above.

The second section, labour market characteristics and regulation, examines a number of aspects of labour markets that contribute to their performance. This section includes an analysis of [1] public-sector employment, [2] minimum wages, [3] unionization, and [4] labour relations laws. Each of the four subsections reviews the research and data for each province and state as well as the overall rankings. This section concludes with an overview of other characteristics, including minimum wage exemptions, overtime requirements, and occupational licensing, each of which affect labour market performance but for which, unfortunately, there are currently no comparable meaurements available.

The importance of labour market flexibility

Labour markets are one of the most important components of an economy. They are the mechanism through which we allocate one of our most valuable and productive resources: human work, effort, creativity, and ingenuity. Labour markets match human skills, supplied by individuals seeking to earn a living, with the demand for labour by firms, governments, and households.¹

The key to a high-performing, efficient labour market characterized by strong job creation, low unemployment, short durations of unemployment, and a highly productive workforce is flexibility: the ease with which workers and employers alike are able to adjust their efforts given changes in the marketplace. For employees, flexibility allows them to supply their labour as they wish and shift their efforts to endeavours that provide the greatest return or benefit. Similarly, flexibility allows employers to adjust the mix of labour and capital to respond to market changes.

Regulation has an influential impact on labour market flexibility by restricting the ability of employees and employers to adjust their efforts. Rigid and overly prescriptive labour market regulation can impede workers' ability and incentives to change jobs. It can also limit employers' ability to change their labour inputs such as the number of workers or the nature of their work. In other words, labour regulation can impede the speed and extent to which employees and employers can react to changing market conditions.

There is a large body of research confirming that flexible labour markets lead to better labour-market performance: strong job creation, low unemployment, and relatively strong productivity. The seminal study among these was published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) in 1994; it is commonly referred to as the *Jobs Study* (1994a, 1994b). It concluded that countries with more flexible labour markets—those that have regulations that allow workers and employers to react to changing market conditions—enjoyed better records of job creation and higher rates of economic growth. In 2006, the OECD published a reassessment of the original *Jobs Study*. Labour market flexibility was again emphasized. The follow-up studies (2006a, 2006b) again recommended

1 It is important to emphasize that labour markets are generally no different from any other market except that what is being traded is the work effort, skills, ingenuity, and diligence of individuals. The market for labour, however, acts the same as other product or material markets. As demand for the product—in the case of labour markets, labour—increases, the price paid (wages) adjusts upwards until a new equilibrium or balance is achieved between the amount of labour demanded and the amount supplied. Again, as with other markets, the suppliers of labour respond to the new wage rates. New labour may enter the market or labour from other areas of the economy may be reallocated to the areas with higher demand. This natural process of reallocation and prioritization continues until a sustainable balance is achieved.

the adoption of policies that encourage greater flexibility for workers and employers, including flexible work-time arrangements and a greater degree of wage flexibility to enhance performance.

A number of studies examining the relationship between labour market regulations (i.e., flexibility) and labour market performance corroborate the OECD's conclusions. For example, a study by Alonso et al. (2004), using data from 19 OECD countries and spanning a period of 35 years, found that countries with more flexible labour markets had lower unemployment rates and higher incomes and capital per worker. Similarly, an important study by Rafael Di Tella and Robert MacCulloch (2005) examined how labour markets that are more flexible performed compared to those that are less flexible in 21 OECD countries from 1984 to 1990. The authors found that countries with more flexible labour markets had better labour-market outcomes, including higher increases in employment and participation rates. More recently, Bartelsman et al. (2011) found that one of the reasons for the gap between European and US labour productivity is labour market flexibility, measured by firing costs. Specifically, the costs of investing in new technology are lower in the United States because of lower firing costs, so high-risk industries, such as information and communication, are able to flourish, increasing the country's overall productivity growth.

Other studies have examined the relationship between labour market flexibility and the unemployment rate, a key measure of labour market performance. A study by Kiander and Viren (2001) explored this relationship using immigration statistics in 22 OECD countries from 1960 to 1997. They found that the United States, which has the most flexible labour market, responded quickly to population increases and, as a result, there was no change in the unemployment rate; European countries, which have labour markets that are much less flexible, were slower to respond. Another study by Nickell et al. (2005) examined unemployment patterns in the OECD countries from the 1960s to the 1990s. The authors found that differences in unemployment rates across the OECD can largely be explained by labour market regulations—such as the level of employment-insurance benefits, taxes, wage flexibility, and trade union power-that affect flexibility. More recently, Bande and Karanassou (2008) examined the unemployment rate in the Spanish regions and found that low levels of labour market flexibility in some of the regions led to faster increases in their unemployment rates in times of poor economic performance (1985 to 1991) and slower decreases in their unemployment rates in times of strong economic growth (1992 to 1995).

Other research has examined how individual aspects of labour market flexibility can affect labour market outcomes. One aspect of labour market flexibility is the balance between the ease with which employers can adjust their labour inputs and employees can seek jobs that provide the greatest return or benefit. A regulatory environment that skews the balance of power in favour of one party over another reduces labour market flexibility because the ability of one party to pursue its best interests has been eroded. An interesting paper by Besley and Burgess (2004) examined what happens when labour regulation is unbalanced. Using data from the manufacturing sector in India between 1958 and 1992, the authors found that labour relations laws (regulations on the relationship between workers, employers, and unions) that favoured one group over another led to lower output, employment, investment, and productivity.

Another aspect of labour market flexibility is the extent to which wages can adjust to changing market conditions. If wage rates are unable to, or are impeded from, moving up and down with changing market conditions, workers receive a distorted signal about where to allocate their efforts. The result would be an imbalance between the number and type of workers and the demand for labour. Several studies have examined this effect. For example, Bierhanzl and Gwartney (1998) found that higher rates of centralized wage-setting, stricter employee-dismissal policies, and generous employment insurance led to higher unemployment rates in OECD countries.² Similarly, Bertola et al. (2002), using data for 17 OECD countries from 1960 to 1996, found that union wage-setting policies and accordant wage premiums effectively priced the young and elderly out of employment.

A final important aspect of labour market flexibility is the speed at which labour markets can react to changing market conditions. Several recent studies have shown that the ability of workers and employers to adjust quickly to market changes has a positive impact on labour market performance and more generally on economic performance. For example, a paper by Caballero et al. (2004), using data from 60 countries for the years 1980 to 1998, found that countries that increased labour regulation decreased their speed of adjustment to market changes, as well as their annual productivity growth. More recently, Cuñat and Melitz (2007) found that countries with more flexible labour markets adjusted to market shocks much faster and to a greater extent than countries with inflexible labour markets. Simialrly, D'Amuri and Peri (2011) found that native workers in countries with less flexible labour markets have greater difficulty adjusting to immigration inflows.

Overall, there is a growing consensus among economists that labour market flexibility results in better labour market outcomes. Over a wide range of countries and time, a wealth of research has shown that flexible labour markets provide for less unemployment, higher employment growth, higher productivity, and generally more economic prosperity than inflexible labour markets.

² A case study of Denmark by Eriksson and Westergaard-Nielsen (2007) found that the shift in Denmark's wage-bargaining institutions from being highly centralized to more decentralized coincided with deregulation and increased competition in the product market.

Measuring labour market performance

The Index of Labour Market Performance presents a comprehensive measure of labour market performance in Canada and the United States and is based on five indicators over the past five years (2006–2010): [1] average total employment growth, [2] average private-sector employment growth, [3] average unemployment rate, [4] average duration of unemployment, and [5] average labour productivity. The study employed five-year averages to balance the need for historical data while weighing current performance. A five-year average helps prevent indicators from being skewed by recent anomalous data and avoids reliance on information that no longer reflects the performance of a jurisdiction. The format of this section is largely a presentation of the rankings coupled with a brief discussion. The section includes a discussion of the current economic situation and its impact on the results published in this edition of *Measuring Labour Markets*, general observations for each of the indicators, a discussion of the top- and bottom-ranked jurisdictions, information specific to Canada, and general trends.

Recession and labour market performance

While both Canada and the United States enjoyed relatively strong economies at the beginning of the period (2006–2007)—average real (i.e., inflation-adjusted) GDP growth rates of 2.5% and 2.3% per year—the situation began to change in late 2007 (Statistics Canada, 2011f; US Dep't of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2011c).³ Economic growth in the two countries was noticeably lower and/or negative the following year (0.7% in Canada and –0.3% in the United States) but the recent economic downturn was most severe in 2009 as economic activity declined by 2.8% in Canada and 3.5% in the United States. Both Canada and the United States rebounded in 2010, recording strong economic growth of 3.2% and 3.0%, respectively.

Typically, strong economic growth translates into robust performances in other areas, including labour markets, and poor economic performance tends to result in poor labour market performance. The recent economic downturn was no exception. The recessions in both Canada and the United States have led to negative employment growth and higher unemployment rates. However, labour market performance in Canada did not deteriorate as much as it did in the United States during the recession. Employment in the United States decreased by 2.1% during 2008 and 2009, on average, while unemployment more than doubled, from 4.6% in 2007 to 9.3% in 2009 (US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011e). In Canada, on the other hand, employment declined only in 2009, by 1.6% (in 2008, employment

³ GDP (gross domestic product) is defined as the value of all goods and services produced in a given period of time.

had grown by 1.7%) and unemployment increased by 2.1 percentage points, about 40%, from 5.2% in 2007 to 7.3% in 2009 (Statistics Canada, 2011a). Canadian employment rebounded to its pre-recession level by January 2011, though its unemployment rate (still much higher than the rate in 2007) has not recovered as well (Statistics Canada, 2011a, 2011h). This is expected since many people enter the labour force as the economy starts recovering from a recession, making the unemployment rate higher rather than lower. The United States has regained the vast majority of the jobs lost (it is currently at 95% of the pre-recession employment level) but has not yet reached the prerecession level of employment (US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011f). In other words, not only was the recession in the United States slightly deeper, as measured by the contraction in GDP and job losses but also the recovery from the recession seems to be taking longer than in Canada.

There are four possible explanations for the United States' relatively poorer labour market performance during and after the recent recession. First, it is likely that the recession had a stronger adverse impact on the United States than on the Canadian economy, especially given that the financial crisis and the crash of the housing market originated there. Some recent studies indicate that recessions coupled with a financial crisis, declining housingmarket prices, or both have a more severe impact on labour market performance. For example, Knotek and Terry (2009), using data on the banking crisis of high-income countries from 1960 to 2007, found that nations that have banking crises that occur with a recession experience more severe and persistent increases in unemployment. They argued that this could be due to the large declines in output (GDP) typically associated with a banking crisis and a recession and reduced access to credit that may make it hard for some firms to fund operating expenses, forcing them to lay off workers (Knotek and Terry, 2009). Similarly, Claessens et al. (2008) used data from 21 OECD countries over the same period and found that recessions with restricted credit or steeply declining house prices, or both, are typically more severe, last longer, and increase unemployment. Moreover, steeply falling house prices are also associated with sharp declines in employment (Claessens et al., 2008).

The second possible explanation is the different mix of industries in the two countries. For instance, data from OECD countries over the last few decades indicate that the construction industry is most sensitive to recessions, followed by durable manufacturing (OECD, 2009).⁴ The construction

⁴ Moreover, studies show that in addition to the mix of industries, some groups of employees may be at a greater risk of losing their jobs than others in an economic downturn. Elsby et al. (2010), for instance, found that males, the young, and the less educated, as well as those from ethnic minorities experienced higher rates of unemployment during recessions over the past couple of decades in United States, including the recent recession. Engemann and Wall (2010) corroborate these findings for the recent recession. The

industry in the United States produced 3.4% of total output in 2010 and manufacturing, 11.7% (US Dep't of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2011d). In Canada, the construction industry produces a somewhat higher share of the total output (5.8%) but the manufacturing industry produced about 12.6% (Statistics Canada, 2011g). These statistics indicate that the relatively poorer labour market performance in the United States during the recent recession is not likely due to a different industry mix, and, in particular, it is not due to differences in the relative sizes of the construction and the manufacturing sectors.

Thirdly, labour laws can in many ways affect how a country responds to an economic downturn. The severity of a recession, and how rapidly an economy recovers from it, ultimately depend on the ability of firms to restructure and reorganize in response to changes in market conditions. Of course, in a dynamic economy, market conditions are constantly changing. What makes recessions different is that they involve drastic changes in market conditions, making the firms' ability to respond to these changes in a timely manner all the more important. The speed at which a firm can respond to such changes is determined by the flexibility of the labour market. Therefore, labour laws that encourage or restrict this flexibility play an important role in determining the labour market performance of states and provinces in an economic downturn.

Finally, the policies countries undertake to address an economic downturn can affect the labour market performance. As the global recession unfolded, many nations including Canada and the United States enacted fiscal-stimulus packages in hopes of boosting economic activity. The evidence from Canada and the United States, however, indicates that stimulus spending played a negligible role in the economic turnaround (Karabegović et al., 2010; Cogan et al., 2009, September 17; Barro, 2010, February 23). More generally, empirical evidence on stimulus spending indicates that it is not an effective tool to deal with a recession (Veldhuis and Lammam, 2010).

In the end, these factors—the severity of the shock, the mix of industries, labour market flexibility, and governments' responses to a recession could have affected labour market performance in Canada and the United States during the recession and could determine the speed at which the two

authors argued that men likely lost more jobs than women because men are concentrated in manufacturing and construction, the two industries hard hit by the recent downturn (Engemann and Wall, 2010). Evidence from OECD countries suggests, similarly, that youth are most sensitive to recessions, followed by those with a low level of educational attainment and temporary workers (OECD, 2009). The reason some workers are more affected by recessions than others is their "turnover cost," the cost of replacing current employees with new ones (OECD, 2009). It costs less to replace young workers and those with few skills or little education than it does to replace those with a high level of expertise and extensive experience (OECD, 2009).

countries recover. It is likely that the severity of the financial crisis in the United States and the country's response to it played more significant roles than other factors. The industry mix—the relative size of its construction and manufacturing sectors—are not drastically different in the two countries. Moreover, as will be discussed later on the study, the United States has more flexible labour markets than Canada does, suggesting that this factor is not responsible for the relatively pooper labour market performance in the United States.

Even though the Canadian labour markets have been out-performing those in the United States in the last few years, those provinces and states that performed well before the recession have, on average, also done well over the past five years. The top 30 jurisdictions in the Index of Labour Market Performance, published in the previous editions of the study and covering the period before recession (2003 to 2007), have also done better over the past five years (2006 to 2010) than those in the bottom half.

It is important to note that in this study we gauge labour market performance over the last five years. The reason we use five-year averages is to smooth out the fluctuations of the business cycle and, thus, make the comparison more meaningful. In other words, even though annual and monthly fluctuations in labour market performance are important, they are likely temporary. Five-year averages smooth out these temporary ups and downs in the data. Fluctuations in labour market performance in the short run should, indeed, be used with caution since most likely it does not represent an actual trend but rather a temporary deviation.

1 Index of Labour Market Performance

The Index of Labour Market Performance provides an overview of each jurisdiction's overall labour market performance, as measured by the five indicators: [1] average total employment growth, [2] average private-sector employment growth, [3] average unemployment rate, [4] average duration of unemployment, and [5] average labour productivity. Each component was weighted equally in the index (for a description of the methodology, see Appendix A: Methodology, p. 54).

General observations

Alberta's labour market performance puts it at the top of the list of Canadian provinces and US states over the last five years (figure 1). The province's strong performance in total employment growth (ranked 1st out of 60 jurisdictions), employment growth in the private sector (ranked 1st), low duration of unemployment (ranked 2nd), and average unemployment rate (ranked 6th) enabled it to achieve the highest overall score of 9.0 out of 10.

In the United States, states in the West and the Midwest dominated the top of the rankings: three states from the West—Alaska, Utah, and Wyoming—and two from the Midwest—North Dakota, and South Dakota—were among the top 10.⁵ Three Canadian provinces besides Alberta are in the top

⁵ Throughout this study, US states are often grouped into geographical regions. Definitions for these geographical regions come from the United States Census Bureau's *Geographic Areas Reference Manual* (US Dep't of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1994). In this manual, the United States is divided into four major regions: West, Midwest, Northeast, and South. Each of these regions is further subdivided. The West consists of the Pacific region (Alaska, Hawaii, Washington, Oregon, and California) and the Mountain region (Idaho, Montana, Wyoming, Nevada, Utah, Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico). The Midwest consists of the West North Central region (North Dakota, South Dakota, Minnesota, Nebraska, Iowa, Kansas, and Missouri) and the East North Central region (Wisconsin, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, and Michigan). The East North Central group of states is often referred to as the Industrial Belt; the two terms are used interchangeably throughout the study. The Northeast region consists of the New England region (Maine, Vermont, New Hampshire, Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Rhode Island) and the Middle Atlantic region (New York, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania). The South consists of the West South Central region (Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas, and Louisiana), the East South Central region



Figure 1: Index of Labour Market Performance, 2006–2010

Source: Fraser Institute, 2011.

10, Saskatchewan (2nd), Manitoba (tied with North Dakota for 4th place), and British Columbia (tied with Wyoming for 6th place). Newfoundland and Prince Edward Island ranked the lowest among Canadian provinces, ranking 32nd and 36th, respectively. The remaining four Canadian provinces scored just over 5.0, with rankings ranging from 12th place (Quebec) to 21st (Nova Scotia).

Four of the Midwestern states (Missouri, Ohio, Indiana, and Michigan) were among the bottom 12 jurisdictions (three states were tied for the 49th place), as were six Southern states (Florida, Georgia, West Virginia, South Carolina, Alabama, and Mississippi), one state from the Northeast region (Rhode Island) and one state from the West (California). Michigan had the worst labour market performance out of the 60 jurisdictions, having a score of 1.3.

The following section examines each of the components of the Index of Labour Market Performance in greater detail.

Indicator 1 Average total employment growth

Indicator 1 measures the average growth rates of total employment for each jurisdiction from 2006 to 2010. Total employment includes full-time and parttime employment in the private (business and non-profit), self-employment, and public (government) sectors of the economy.⁶

Observations

Alberta, Saskatchewan, and British Columbia top the list of Canadian provinces and US states with an average total employment growth rate ranging from 2.0% in Alberta to 1.5% in British Columbia over the last five years. Manitoba, Texas, and Quebec follow with an average employment growth of 1.3%, 1.1% and 1.1%, respectively. Of the top 10, three are US states. Two states are from the West (Arizona, and Washington) and one state is from the South (Texas).

The Canadian provinces were distributed in the top 20 of the rankings: seven provinces ranked in the top 10 of all jurisdictions, while the remaining three were in the top 20. Ontario and Prince Edward Island are tied for 8th place, followed by Newfoundland, ranking 13th. The lowest-ranked Canadian provinces were Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, tied for 15th place.

(Kentucky, Tennessee, Mississippi, and Alabama), and the South Atlantic region (Maryland, Delaware, West Virginia, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida).

6 There is a small difference between the Canadian and US definition of "employable": Canada tabulates employment data for those of age 15 and above while the United States compiles employment data for those age 16 and above.



Indicator 1: Average total employment growth (%), 2006–2010



The bottom 12 rankings (three states were tied for 49^{th} place) were occupied by four states from the Midwest (Ohio, Missouri, Indiana, and Michigan), five states from the South (Georgia, Mississippi, Alabama, Delaware, and West Virginia), two states from the West (Hawaii, and California), and one state from the Northeast (Rhode Island). Michigan placed last, and recorded a declining total employment rate of -2.3% on average over the last five years.

Indicator 2 Average private-sector employment growth

An important aspect is missing from the first indicator of labour market performance: the nature of employment growth. Total employment growth does not reveal whether employment growth was driven by growth in the public or the private sector. Strong employment growth that is largely fuelled by the public sector can have harmful economic consequences.⁷ The second indicator of labour market performance measures the average growth in privatesector employment for each jurisdiction from 2006 to 2010; growth is defined as new full-time and part-time private-sector employment.⁸

Observations

Alberta led all jurisdictions with an average of 2.3% growth in private-sector employment over the last five years. Saskatchewan (1.9%), Alaska (1.4%), and British Columbia (1.3%) followed. Of the top 10 rankings, five are US states (Alaska, North Dakota, Texas, South Dakota, and Colorado).

Besides Alberta, Saskatchewan, and British Columbia, two other Canadian provinces were in the top 10 of the rankings (Manitoba, and Quebec). The bottom-ranked Canadian province was Prince Edward Island with private sector-employment growth of -0.3%, ranking 31st overall. The remaining four Canadian provinces had average growth rates ranging between -0.1%(Ontario) and 0.6% (Newfoundland).

The bottom 14 jurisdictions (five states were tied for the 47^{th} place) were five Southern states (Mississippi, Florida, Delaware, Alabama, and West Virginia), four Western states (Nevada, Idaho, California, and New Mexico), three Midwest states (Ohio, Indiana, and Michigan), and two from the Northeast (Maine and Rhode Island). Michigan was last, with a reduction in private employment of 2.3% on average during the five-year period. Each of the bottom 14 jurisdictions saw a decrease in average private-sector employment ranging from -0.9% to -2.3%, on average, over the last five years.

⁷ See Clemens et al., 2003 as well as the discussion of public-sector employment in the section, Labour market characteristics and regulation, in this study (p. __?).

⁸ In this instance as well, Canada tabulates employment data for those of age 15 and above while the United States compiles employment data for those age 16 and above.



Indicator 2: Average private-sector employment growth (%), 2006–2010

The relationship between the results of the first indicator of labour market performance, average total employment growth, and the second indicator, average private-sector employment growth, is noteworthy. Several jurisdictions were in the midst of altering the size of their public sector during the period analyzed. There is, therefore, a stark contrast between the two indicators for those jurisdictions. For example, Alaska's average total employment growth was 0.7% but its private-sector employment growth was 1.4%, indicating a large reduction in the state's public-sector employment. Similarly, Colorado recorded an average total employment growth rate of 0.0% while averaging 0.9% private-sector employment growth, again indicating a large reduction in the public sector. Virginia and New Mexico show the opposite: declining private-sector employment coupled with average total employment growth, indicating an expansion in the public sector.

Indicator 3 Average unemployment rate

Indicator 3 reflects the first two indicators in that an economy that is unable to generate employment growth will also, to a certain extent, have a higher unemployment rate, assuming a steady flow of the new entrants to the workforce. Indicator 3 measures the five-year (2006–2010) average percentage of citizens who, though actively seeking work, were unable to find it.⁹

Some of the differences recorded between the Canadian provinces and the US states are due to the differences in the two countries' employment insurance programs.¹⁰ In general, Canada has a more generous employment insurance program than the United States because it provides higher benefits, for longer periods, for a greater percentage of its unemployed. The result, not surprisingly, is that Canada tends to have higher average unemployment rates.¹¹

⁹ This year, the R3 unemployment rate was used for the Canadian provinces, instead of a traditional (i.e., official) unemployment rate. R3 alters the official Canadian rates to make them comparable to the US unemployment rates. Even though the R3 unemployment rates are slightly lower than the official unemployment rate, the difference is less than one percentage point, on average, for Canada.

¹⁰ For more information on the two countries' employment insurance systems, see, for Canada, <<u>http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/en/ei/menu/eihome.shtml></u> and, for the United States, <<u>http://www.dol.gov/dol/topic/unemployment-insurance/index.htm></u>.

¹¹ In addition, the Canadian government made changes to the Employment Insurance system in 2000 that are to the benefit of workers in Atlantic Canada. An interesting case study done by Kuhn and Riddell (2006) presents the long-term effects of generous unemployment insurance in New Brunswick and Maine. See Riddell et al., 2006 for a summary of this technical study.



Indicator 3: Average unemployment rate (%), 2006–2010

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011a; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011b; calculations by authors.

Observations

North Dakota recorded the lowest average unemployment rate (3.5%) for the last five years. All jurisdictions that ranked in the top 11 (three jurisdictions were tied for the 9th place) had average unemployment rates of 4.7% or less. Saskatchewan was the highest-ranking Canadian province, placing 3rd overall with an average unemployment rate of 3.8%. Manitoba (5th), Alberta (6th), and British Columbia (14th) were the only other Canadian provinces to rank in the top half of all jurisdictions.¹² Newfoundland & Labrador ranked last, with an average unemployment rate of 12.6%, a rate over three times higher than that of the top-ranked Canadian province, Saskatchewan, and nearly four times higher than that of top-ranked North Dakota.

The Atlantic provinces received the lowest rankings among the Canadian provinces: Nova Scotia, an average rate of 7.3% (45th); New Brunswick, 7.4% (47th); Prince Edward Island, 9.5% (58th); and Newfoundland & Labrador, a startling 12.6% (60th). These averages diverge significantly from the average for the top 11 jurisdictions (4.2%) or even the Canadian average (6.1%). And, in stark contrast, all the Northeastern US states bordering Atlantic Canada except Rhode Island had low average unemployment rates (6.6% or less) and one, New Hampshire, was in the top 11.

Indicator 4 Average duration of unemployment

The fourth indicator of labour market performance, average duration of unemployment, is an adjunct to the previous measure. It is intended to indicate the severity of unemployment: the labour market of two jurisdictions with similar unemployment rates may suffer different problems if the duration of unemployment is drastically different. This indicator measures the percentage of the labour force experiencing unemployment for 27 weeks or longer from 2006 to 2010.

Observations

Saskatchewan ranked first, with the lowest percentage of its unemployed (9.2%) experiencing unemployment for 27 weeks or longer. The jurisdiction ranking second highest was Alberta, where 9.4% of the unemployed were out

¹² A low unemployment rate in jurisdictions like Manitoba (5th) may be the result of the emigration of their working-age populations. Manitoba (at –1.8%,) had the second highest negative rate of net migration in Canada from 2005 to 2009. If a significant portion of a province's working-age population is leaving, then its unemployment rate will appear to be improved since unemployment is measured as the number of people looking for work relative to the total labour force. See the discussion on migration in Appendix B (p. 55) for more details.





Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011a; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011c; calculations by authors.

of work 27 weeks or more, followed closely by Manitoba with 9.6%. Overall, Canadian jurisdictions performed better on the duration of unemployment than on unemployment rate, having eight provinces ranked among the top 11 (two jurisdictions were tied for the 10th place). Ontario (15th) and Quebec (16th) ranked the lowest of all Canadian provinces with rates of 16.8% and 17.7%.¹³

Michigan ranked last: 32.8% of its unemployed were out of work for 27 weeks or longer. Worse still for the United States, the bottom 30 jurisdictions were all US states. The bottom half of the rankings (31 states since two states were tied for the 30th place) included 12 Southern states, eight Northeast states, six Midwest states, and five Western states.

Indicator 5 Average GDP per worker

The ultimate goal of a well-functioning labour market is high and growing labour productivity,¹⁴ which in turn translates into higher wages and salaries for workers. The final indicator of labour market performance measures the average total value of goods and services (GDP) per worker over the five-year period from 2005 to 2009.¹⁵

Observations

Delaware ranked first out of the 60 jurisdictions with an average GDP per worker totaling \$174,362. The Western US states performed well on this indicator: five states (Alaska, Wyoming, California, Nevada, and Hawaii) ranked in the top 10. The bottom half of the rankings consisted largely of Midwestern and Southern states.

Alberta was the top-ranked Canadian province at 11th place, with an average GDP per worker of \$127,391. Newfoundland & Labrador and

- 13 Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, and Newfoundland & Labrador have the unemployment rates among the highest (ranking in the bottom 20) yet periods of unemployment in those jurisdictions are of relatively short duration. This could be explained by the presence of seasonal workers, such as those in the fishing industry, who are unemployed for a significant portion of the year but not more than the 27-week threshold of this measure. Needless to say, more detailed analysis is required to support this hypothesis.
- 14 A more accurate measure of labour productivity is GDP divided by the total number of hours worked by all employees and self-employed individuals in each jurisdiction. Unfortunately, the number of hours worked is not currently available by US state (though it is available by Canadian province). Research shows that, on a national level, Canada trails the United States on this measure (see Veldhuis and Clemens, 2006).
- 15 An average for the period from 2005 to 2009 was used because data on provincial GDP were not available for 2010. The other four indicators of labor market performance use averages for the period from 2006 to 2010.

Saskatchewan were the only other Canadian provinces in the top half of the rankings, with an average GDP per worker of \$120,175 and \$111,988, respectively. Prince Edward Island ranked last among the 60 jurisdictions with a GDP per worker of \$68,150, just over a half that of top-ranked province Alberta and less than half that of the top-ranked jurisdiction, Delaware. Troubling for Canadians, seven of the bottom 10 jurisdictions were Canadian provinces: Ontario, British Columbia, Manitoba, Quebec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, and Prince Edward Island. Overall, US states out-performed Canadian provinces on labour productivity.



Indicator 5: Average GDP per worker (CA\$ 2009), 2005-2009

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011b; 2007a; US Dep't of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2011a; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011b; calculations by authors.

	Index of Labour Market Performance, 2010		Average total employment growth, 2006–2010		Average private employment growth, 2006–2010		Average unemployment rate, 2006–2010		Average duration of unemployment, 2006–2010		Average GDP per worker, 2005–2009	
	Rank	Score	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	CA\$2009
Alberta	1	9.0	1	2.0	1	2.3	6	4.0	2	9.4	11	127,391
British Columbia	6	7.0	3	1.5	4	1.3	14	5.0	7	12.9	55	86,739
Manitoba	4	7.2	4	1.3	6	1.0	5	3.9	3	9.6	56	82,905
New Brunswick	16	5.5	15	0.5	21	0.1	47	7.4	5	11.7	58	77,121
Nfld & Labrador	32	5.1	13	0.6	13	0.6	60	12.6	9	14.8	17	120,175
Nova Scotia	21	5.4	15	0.5	17	0.4	45	7.3	8	13.1	59	75,696
Ontario	16	5.5	8	0.8	24	-0.1	36	6.7	15	16.8	52	90,811
Prince Edward Is.	36	4.9	8	0.8	31	-0.3	58	9.5	4	10.6	60	68,150
Quebec	12	5.8	5	1.1	9	0.9	36	6.7	16	17.7	57	78,714
Saskatchewan	2	8.4	2	1.6	2	1.9	3	3.8	1	9.2	22	111,988
Alabama	56	3.3	56	-1.2	55	-1.5	27	6.2	48	27.2	46	99,070
Alaska	3	7.3	11	0.7	3	1.4	40	7.0	12	16.0	3	154,438
Arizona	14	5.7	7	1.0	17	0.4	36	6.7	30	21.9	27	108,949
Arkansas	38	4.7	41	-0.4	45	-0.8	27	6.2	18	18.5	49	93,030
California	49	3.9	52	-0.8	52	-1.2	55	8.2	49	27.4	7	135,638
Colorado	14	5.7	27	-0.0	9	0.9	25	6.0	32	22.2	20	115,930
Connecticut	25	5.3	22	0.1	27	-0.2	34	6.4	56	29.5	2	156,721
Delaware	36	4.9	57	-1.3	54	-1.4	22	5.7	44	26.3	1	174,362
Florida	49	3.9	39	-0.3	47	-0.9	40	7.0	52	27.8	28	107,918
Georgia	52	3.7	49	-0.7	45	-0.8	43	7.1	53	28.7	25	109,842
Hawaii	25	5.3	49	-0.7	42	-0.7	7	4.5	27	21.1	10	129,468
Idaho	35	5.0	37	-0.2	47	-0.9	20	5.5	14	16.2	51	91,332
Illinois	44	4.3	37	-0.2	31	-0.3	45	7.3	58	30.9	13	125,524
Indiana	59	3.1	58	-1.4	59	-1.7	44	7.2	47	26.8	31	106,638
lowa	16	5.5	22	0.1	36	-0.5	9	4.7	19	18.9	35	102,751
Kansas	21	5.4	22	0.1	27	-0.2	19	5.4	21	19.8	34	103,947
Kentucky	42	4.4	30	-0.1	24	-0.1	52	7.9	37	23.3	43	99,931
Louisiana	16	5.5	30	-0.1	36	-0.5	17	5.2	29	21.4	12	127,007
Maine	45	4.2	44	-0.5	47	-0.9	27	6.2	30	21.9	50	92,818
Maryland	25	5.3	44	-0.5	20	0.3	18	5.3	39	24.1	18	118,481

Summary of provincial and state rankings (out of 60), labour market performance

	Index of Labour Market Performance, 2010		Average total employment growth, 2006–2010		Average private employment growth, 2006–2010		Average unemployment rate, 2006–2010		Average duration of unemployment, 2006–2010		Average GDP per worker, 2005–2009	
	Rank	Score	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	CA\$2009
Massachusetts	30	5.2	30	-0.1	27	-0.2	31	6.3	43	25.7	8	134,397
Michigan	60	1.3	60	-2.3	60	-2.3	59	9.6	60	32.8	33	104,182
Minnesota	32	5.1	30	-0.1	41	-0.6	23	5.9	28	21.2	21	114,046
Mississippi	56	3.3	49	-0.7	47	-0.9	53	8.0	49	27.4	48	93,431
Missouri	49	3.9	54	-0.9	34	-0.4	40	7.0	45	26.4	37	101,878
Montana	21	5.4	30	-0.1	21	0.1	13	4.9	17	18.0	54	88,056
Nebraska	16	5.5	30	-0.1	42	-0.7	2	3.7	20	19.4	30	106,692
Nevada	45	4.2	41	-0.4	47	-0.9	57	8.6	40	24.6	9	130,391
New Hampshire	25	5.3	22	0.1	24	-0.1	9	4.7	33	22.6	39	101,174
New Jersey	42	4.4	46	-0.6	36	-0.5	35	6.6	56	29.5	6	137,290
New Mexico	38	4.7	21	0.2	57	-1.6	20	5.5	24	20.3	41	100,980
New York	30	5.2	39	-0.3	21	0.1	31	6.3	55	29.0	4	147,346
North Carolina	45	4.2	41	-0.4	27	-0.2	47	7.4	54	28.8	19	116,621
North Dakota	4	7.2	11	0.7	5	1.1	1	3.5	6	11.9	44	99,444
Ohio	53	3.6	52	-0.8	52	-1.2	50	7.6	41	24.9	32	104,801
Oklahoma	25	5.3	27	0.0	34	-0.4	16	5.1	21	19.8	42	100,750
Oregon	32	5.1	18	0.4	15	0.5	51	7.8	36	23.1	23	110,811
Pennsylvania	41	4.5	46	-0.6	42	-0.7	27	6.2	38	23.5	26	109,683
Rhode Island	58	3.2	54	-0.9	57	-1.6	54	8.1	51	27.6	24	110,363
South Carolina	55	3.5	27	0.0	31	-0.3	56	8.3	59	32.1	45	99,194
South Dakota	8	6.7	18	0.4	6	1.0	3	3.8	10	15.6	36	102,150
Tennessee	38	4.7	30	-0.1	13	0.6	47	7.4	45	26.4	29	107,027
Texas	9	6.5	5	1.1	6	1.0	25	6.0	26	20.4	16	122,640
Utah	10	6.4	15	0.5	11	0.7	12	4.8	13	16.1	40	101,099
Vermont	21	5.4	22	0.1	17	0.4	14	5.0	24	20.3	53	88,542
Virginia	12	5.8	13	0.6	36	-0.5	9	4.7	34	22.8	14	125,041
Washington	11	6.1	8	0.8	11	0.7	39	6.8	23	20.2	15	122,903
West Virginia	53	3.6	58	-1.4	55	-1.5	23	5.9	35	23.0	47	93,708
Wisconsin	45	4.2	46	-0.6	36	-0.5	31	6.3	42	25.3	38	101,233
Wyoming	6	7.0	18	0.4	15	0.5	7	4.5	10	15.6	5	138,359

Summary (cont'd) of provincial and state rankings (out of 60), labour market performance

Source: Fraser Institute, 2011.

2 Labour market characteristics and regulation

The second section of this study measures key characteristics and regulations that affect labour market performance in each of the 60 jurisdictions: (1) average public-sector employment as a percentage of total employment; (2) average minimum wage as a percentage of wages and salaries; (3) average unionized employment as a percentage of total employment; and (4) an empirical comparison of labour relations laws. There is substantial evidence, as we will show in this section, that each of these characteristics influences the performance of labour markets. It is not surprising, therefore, to find that jurisdictions with unfavourable labour market characteristics and regulations also have a labour market that performs poorly.

Characteristic1 Public-sector employment

The split between private-sector and public-sector employment¹⁶ is an important aspect of labour market performance as the incentives, productivity, and performance of labour in the private sector are different from that in the public sector (Clemens et al., 2007; Clemens and Esmail, 2002a, 2002b; Clemens et al., 2003). One key difference between the public and private sectors is their objectives. In a critical study published in the prestigious Journal of Economic Literature, professors Megginson and Netter (2001) found that a key difference between the two sectors is that governments are preoccupied with fulfilling social goals and objectives rather than pursuing economic or business objectives. In the public sector, political pressures often result in resources going to projects that are not in the best interest of most workers. In addition, Megginson and Netter found that government businesses tend to develop with less capital and thus are more labour-intensive than their counterparts in the private sector. Ehrlich et al. (1994) also found evidence that government entities tend to develop with less capital, which, in turn, leads to lower productivity.¹⁷ Lower labour productivity is of particular concern as research

¹⁶ Public-sector employment is measured as the total number of government employees plus employees of government business enterprises (GBEs). Data for the US states excluding GBE employment are not available.

¹⁷ Ehrlich et al. (1994) found that a shift from state to full private ownership can increase the long-term annual rate of total factor productivity (TFP) by 1.6% to 2.0% and reduce the rate of unit cost by 1.7% to 1.9%. (Total Factor Productivity refers to the aggregate

shows that public-sector employees tend to be paid a wage premium relative to their private-sector counterparts (Borjas, 2002; Bender, 2003; Edwards, 2006; and Treasury Board of Canada, 2007).

Another important difference—one that particularly affects firms' incentives and consumer prices—is that government entities tend to operate in a monopoly environment that precludes competition, whereas the businesses of the private sector normally operate in highly competitive markets. The monopolistic environment within which the public sector generally operates results in significantly diminished pressure to serve consumers, react to market demands, and offer competitive prices. In fact, the general characteristics of a monopoly are poor customer service, lower quality products, and higher prices.

Another difference between the two sectors is budget constraints, which Harvard economist Jonas Kornai (1992) identified as one of the major and unchangeable differences between private-sector business enterprises and government. Government's budget constraints are "soft," since it is impossible for the government to go bankrupt, whereas budget constraints in the private sector are "hard," since losses lead to a decrease in capital and ultimately to bankruptcy. The real risks of failure and bankruptcy force the private sector to react to consumers' demands and preferences and to allocate capital efficiently to maximize returns. The public sector, with a softer budget and no risk of bankruptcy, faces no such competitive pressure.

Research shows that a larger public sector leads to poorer outcomes in the labour market and, more broadly, to poorer economic performance. For example, Gylfason et al. (2001), who examined 34 countries from 1972 to 1992, found that investment (a key driver of productivity) and economic growth were inversely related to the size of the state-enterprise sector (measured by government employment as a share of total employment). A study by Yann Algan and his colleagues (2002) measured the impact of public-sector employment on unemployment in 17 OECD countries from 1960 to 2000. The authors found that, on average, the creation of 100 public-sector jobs may have eliminated about 150 private-sector jobs and increased by about 33 the number of unemployed workers. They also found evidence that public-sector employment decreased participation in the labour market.¹⁸ More recently,

efficiency with which people and capital are combined to produce output.) In addition, Jones and Mygind (2002) found that, in Estonia, private ownership is 13% to 22% more efficient than state ownership. Hernandez de Cos et al. (2004) found, using data for Spanish manufacturing firms from 1983 to 1996, that public ownership has a negative impact on efficiency and that competition has a positive impact on a firm's performance. Similarly, Boubakri et al. (2004) found that privatization increases productivity, efficiency, and output in former state-owned firms in Asia.

18 Demekas and Kontolemis (2000) concur. They found that Greece's dramatic increase in public-sector employment in the 1970s and 1980s was strongly associated with higher rates of unemployment. Hörner et al. (2007) found similar results for Europe.

Feldmann (2006) examined the relationship between the size of the government more broadly and the unemployment rate for 19 industrial countries for the period 1985 to 2002. He found that an increase in the size of government leads to an increase in unemployment rate.

Characteristic 1 is a measure of the ratio between total employment in each province or state and public-sector employment, both directly in government as well as in government business enterprises. Note that this study uses two measures: the first excludes federal employees (including government business enterprises at the federal level) while the second includes them. The reason for the two measures is that provincial and state governments have little, if any, control over the location of federal employees but the presence of such employees, and thus of the larger public sector in the jurisdiction, will influence the performance of the labour market.

Observations

On the first measure, which excludes federal employees and counts only public-sector employment at the provincial/state level (characteristic 1a), Pennsylvania tops the list of Canadian provinces and US states with the lowest percentage of its employment in the public sector (9.4%). Rounding out the top 10 rankings are three Northeastern states (Rhode Island, Massachusetts, and New Hampshire), four Midwestern states (Missouri, Indiana, Michigan, and Illinois), and two Western states (Nevada and Colorado).

Alberta was the highest-ranked Canadian province: it ranked 44th with 14.5% of its total employment represented by the public sector. British Columbia followed Alberta closely, taking 46th place with 15.3% of its employment in the public sector. Newfoundland occupied the last position, with public-sector employment representing 25.6% of its total employment, nearly triple the rate of top-ranked Pennsylvania. Seven of the bottom 10 jurisdictions were Canadian provinces: Prince Edward Island, Quebec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Newfoundland & Labrador. Ontario ranked 48th—tied with Mississippi and West Virginia.

The inclusion of federal employees did not, generally, influence the rankings to any great extent, although there are some interesting changes when they are added (characteristic 1b). Pennsylvania retained the top position with the lowest level of employment in the public sector (11.5 %). There were only two changes to the list of jurisdictions in the top 11 (when federal employees are added, two jurisdictions are tied to the 10th place) and one change to the list of jurisdictions in the bottom 10 rankings after the inclusion of federal employees, although the rankings for most jurisdictions changed slightly.

With the inclusion of federal employees, Alberta remained the topranked Canadian province but moved up to the 31st position overall with 15.6% of its employment in the public sector. The second-ranked Canadian jurisdiction, British Columbia, moved up as well to 42nd overall with 17.2%



Characteristic 1a: Average provincial/state and local government employment as a percentage of total employment, 2006–2010

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011d; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011a; calculations by authors.



Characteristic 1b: Average federal, provincial/state, and local government employment as a percentage of total employment, 2006–2010

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011d; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011a; calculations by authors.
of its employment in the public sector. Seven Canadian provinces were again found among the bottom 10: Quebec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and Newfoundland & Labrador. Five Canadian provinces—Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and Newfoundland & Labrador—had public sectors that constituted over one-quarter of their employment.

Characteristic 2 Minimum wages

Minimum-wage laws establish the lowest level of hourly pay that employers must legally pay workers. Minimum wages have been shown to reduce employment opportunities for young and unskilled workers by restricting the ability of employers and employees to negotiate mutually beneficial contracts. In particular, minimum-wage legislation hinders low-skilled workers and new workforce entrants from negotiating for employment they might otherwise accept (Law, 1998; Palda, 2000).¹⁹ A large body of empirical research documents the adverse effects of high and increasing minimum wages, which include a reduction in employment.²⁰ Neumark and Wascher (2007) reviewed over 100 studies covering 20 countries over the past 15 years and concluded that the vast majority of studies, especially the most credible, consistently show that increases in the minimum wage have negative employment effects, particularly for younger workers. Another study by Morley Gunderson (2005) reviewed 23 Canadian studies on the effects of the minimum wage and concluded that overall, the Canadian studies—especially the most credible and recent—found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage leads to employment for "teens" being reduced by 3% to 6%.²¹

Research also shows that, when minimum wages rise, employers offer fewer fringe benefits and reduce on-the-job training (Neumark and Wascher, 2001; Baker, 2005).²² In other words, an increase in income from higher minimum wages may be offset by reductions in other types of incomes such as benefits and training. Decreasing on-the-job training is a serious problem

- 21 "Teens" generally refers to workers aged 15 to 19. However, numerous studies have also found a similar relationship exists with workers aged 20 to 24 and, more broadly, those aged 15 to 24 (Godin and Veldhuis, 2009).
- 22 Neumark and Wascher found that "for young workers in their early 20s, the estimated effects indicate elasticity of the incidence of formal training with respect to the minimum wage from about –1 to –2, implying sizable deleterious effects of minimum wages. Moreover, there is little or no evidence that minimum wages raise the amount of training obtained by workers" (2001: 591).

¹⁹ Some jurisdictions differentiate between minimum wages for younger, unskilled workers and minimum wages for older, more skilled workers.

²⁰ For a review of this research and other economic effects of minimum wages, see Godin and Veldhuis, 2009; Karabegović and Veldhuis, 2011.

given that research shows that this type of skills development is an important driver for young and low-skilled workers making the transition to higher wages in the future (Even and Macpherson, 2003).

A fact about minimum wages that is often overlooked is the age of minimum-wage workers. Data from Statistics Canada (2011e) reveal that in 2010, 58.9% of all minimum-wage workers in Canada were between the age of 15 and 24, of which 85.7% lived at home with family. It is not surprising, then, that high minimum wages are associated with higher school-dropout rates, as the increase in the minimum wage encourages teenage workers to leave school in search of employment. For example, Chaplin et al. (2003) concluded that higher minimum wages were related to reduced school enrollment among teenagers, particularly among students making the transition from grade nine to grade 10.²³

Another important fact often overlooked is that, for the vast majority of workers, earning the minimum wage is a temporary experience. Most minimum-wage earners are new entrants to the labour force who are trying to gain skills in order to earn higher wages or are working while attending school. Research shows there are very few workers who remain in minimumwage jobs year over year. For example, Even and Macpherson (2003) examined the mobility of minimum-wage earners in the United States from 1979 to 1999 and found that almost one-half (47.2%) of minimum-wage workers reported earning more than the minimum wage after one year.²⁴

The Canadian research on income mobility of low-income workers corroborates these findings.²⁵ For example, Morissette and Drolet (2000) found that, of those earning low incomes in the period from 1993 to 1996, 64% were no longer earning low wages a year after they began work and, after two years, up to 78% were no longer doing so. Other studies from Statistics Canada (2009; 2010) reach the same conclusion. They show that, of those who were low income earners during the 2002 to 2007 period, 60% escaped low income after one year of employment, and 79% after two years (Statistics Canada, 2009; 2010).

²³ These findings are confirmed by a series of studies from Neumark and Wascher (1995a, 1995b, 1996, 2003) for the United States, and by Landon (1997) for Canada.

²⁴ These findings are confirmed by Smith and Vavrichek (1992), Schiller (1994), and Long (1999). For example, Long (1999), examining minimum-wage workers in the United States from 1991 to 1995, found that the majority (69.4%) of workers earning minimum wage earned more than the minimum wage after one year of work. After two years of work, 80.2% of these workers earned more than the minimum wage.

²⁵ These studies typically use Low Income Cut-offs (LICOs) as a measure of low income. LICOs are computed by Statistics Canada using data from the Survey of Household Spending and are "defined as the income below which a family is likely to spend 20 percentage points more of its income on food, shelter, and clothing than the average family" (Statistics Canada, 2009: 126).

In the end, minimum wages do not appear to reduce poverty. For example, Sabia and Burkhauser (2010) investigate the widely held perception that increases in the minimum wage helped the working poor. They used US data from 2003 to 2007 during which 28 US states increased their minimum wages to a level above the federal minimum wage, which also increased during this period. The authors find that increases in state and federal minimum wages did not reduce the state poverty rates. The evidence from Canada shows the opposite of what advocates of the minimum wage claim: the minimum wage increases rather than decreases poverty. A study published earlier this year examines increases in the minimum wage in nine Canadian provinces over the two decades from 1981 to 2004 (Sen et al., 2011). The authors found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage increases poverty rates by 4.0% to 6.0%.

Average minimum wage as a percentage of aggregate wages and salaries is obtained by calculating the annual income earned by someone working at minimum wage as a ratio of aggregate wages and salaries (i.e., income) per worker. Comparing the income earned by those working for the minimum wage to the average income in effect gauges a jurisdiction's ability to pay a minimum wage. In other words, comparing minimum-wage income to the average income provides a relative measure of how high minimum wages are relative to other jurisdictions. As the minimum wage grows relative to average income, the range of employment contracts that can be negotiated is reduced and economic performance is eroded.²⁶

Observations

New York ranks first: its minimum wage is 21.4% of aggregate wages and salaries per worker in the state. In other words, a citizen of New York earning the minimum wage would earn less than a quarter of the average aggregate wages and salaries per worker of the state. Virginia ranks second, followed by New Jersey with a minimum wage equivalent to 22.4% and 23.1% of the state's average aggregate wages and salaries per worker. The remaining jurisdictions in the top 10 were all US states.

Prince Edward Island held the last position, ranking 60th out of the 60 Canadian and American jurisdictions. Prince Edwards Island's minimum wage represented 45.5% of the province's average aggregate wages and salaries per worker. Worse still for Canadians, nine of the bottom 10 jurisdictions were Canadian: Newfoundland, Ontario, British Columbia, New Brunswick, Quebec, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, and Prince Edward Island. Alberta was the highest ranking Canadian province, occupying 22nd place.

²⁶ In *Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States: 2010 Edition*, minimumwage income was computed as a percentage of GDP per worker because timely data on wages and salaries for the US states was not available.



Characteristic 2: Average minimum wage as a percentage of aggregate wages and salaries per worker, 2006–2010

Sources: Human Resources and Skills Dev. Canada, 2011b; Statistics Canada, 2011a; US Dep't of Labor ... Wage and Hour Division, 2011; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011b; calculations by authors.

Characteristic 3 Unionization

Another important structural element of labour markets is unionization. Unionization has been demonstrated to impede the flexibility of labour markets, a key factor necessary for good labour market performance.²⁷ For example, a study by Elisabetta Magnani and David Prentice (2006) in the *Industrial and Labour Relations Review* found that unionization impedes labour market flexibility by restricting the ability of employers to adjust inputs of their business to changing market conditions.

Unionization has also been shown to affect a number of economic variables, including productivity. A large body of empirical research has concluded that unionized firms show lower productivity growth, employment creation, and profitability than non-unionized firms (Becker and Olsen, 1989; Maki and Meredith, 1986; Long, 1993; Addison and Wagner, 1993; Laporta and Jenkins, 1996; Hirsch, 1997; Maki, 1983; Freeman and Kleiner, 1999; Vedder and Gallaway, 2002a; Menezes-Filho, 1997).²⁸ For example, Hirsch (1997), in a major review of research on unionization, noted that the evidence indicates that unions tend to increase wages, reduce profitability, and reduce investment in physical capital and research and development; unions also reduce the growth of employment. Hirsch described the wage premium as a tax on capital, which effectively lowers the net rate of return on investment.

There is a large body of research on the effect of unions on investment, a critical factor in increasing labour productivity and, ultimately, workers' wages. For example, Betts et al. (2001), using data from 1968 to 1986 for 13 Canadian industries, found that unionization rates had an adverse impact on research and development spending: when an industry moves from being less to more unionized (from 25th to 75th percentile), spending on research and development is predicted to fall by about 40%. Connolly et al. (1986) also found that unionization reduces returns, and thus spending, on research and development. Similarly, Metcalf (2003) compared the productivity of unionized labour in the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Japan, Germany, and Australia. He found that unionization reduced investment by one fifth compared to the investment rate in a non-union workplace in North America and parts of Europe. Fang and Heywood (2006) examined the impact unionization had on plant closures in Canada from 1999 to 2001. They found that higher plant-level unionization rates led to higher probability of a plant

²⁷ As defined in the study's introduction, labour market flexibility refers to the ease with which workers and employers alike are able to adjust their efforts given changes in the marketplace.

²⁸ In fact, some studies have concluded that unionization negatively affects productivity (Clark, 1984; Hirsch, 1991a).

closing over this period. In a recent study, Lee and Mas (2009) estimated the impact of new unionization (i.e., election wins) on firms' equity value using US data from 1961 to 1999. They found that the effect of unionization (i.e., election wins) on stock-market returns is negative 10%, about \$40,500 per unionized worker.

In a large review of the scholarly research, Aidt and Tzannatos (2002) corroborated the findings of other studies. The authors concluded that union members and other workers covered by collective agreements receive, on average, wage premiums over their non-unionized counterparts in developed and developing countries. Furthermore, the researchers noted that net profits, investment rates (physical capital), and spending on research and development tend to be lower in unionized than in non-unionized firms, even though unionized firms tend to adopt new technology as fast as non-unionized firms.

Empirical research also indicates that high rates of unionization are associated with poorer performance of the labour market (Rama, 2003). Krol and Svorny (2007) examined the relationship between labour market performance and unionization in the five years after the 1982 and 1991 recessions in the United States. The authors found that the US states with high levels of unionization had lower levels of employment growth after recessions. They also found that the US Right-to-Work states-those that permit workers to choose whether or not they will join and financially support a union—recovered faster.²⁹ Similarly, Vedder and Gallaway (2002a) found that unemployment and the ratio of employment to population are adversely affected by unions. They also noted that, while it is true that some individual workers have benefited from unions, the aggregate impact of unions is strongly negative. It is clear that unions generally reduce labour market flexibility and productivity, and adversely affect the overall efficiency of labour markets. It is critical, therefore, to measure the extent of unionization, in both the public and private sectors.

Characteristic 3 of labour markets, unionization, measures the percentage of total employment represented by unionized employment, on average, between 2006 and 2010.³⁰

30 For this characteristic, total employment is defined as the sum of private and public employment. Self-employment is excluded.

²⁹ Right-to-Work (RTW) refers to labour legislation that essentially precludes mandatory union membership and mandatory payment of union dues. There are 22 RTW states: Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Nebraska, Nevada, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oklahoma, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Wyoming. RTW states are generally located in the South, the Midwest, and the Southwest excluding California. There are no RTW states in the Northeast or in the industrial belt surrounding Michigan.

Observations

North Carolina has the lowest ratio of unionized workers to total employment: 4.5% of its employed workers are unionized. Virginia ranks second, with 5.2% of its employment unionized. Southern US states (North Carolina, Virginia, Georgia, South Carolina, Arkansas, Texas, Louisiana, Tennessee, Florida, and Mississippi) occupied 10 of the top 11 rankings (two states are tied for the 10th place). The Right-to-Work states were at the top of the rankings, occupying all of the top 11 positions and 18 of the top 20.

The top-ranked Canadian province was Alberta—trailing at 49th with 24.5% of its employment unionized. Alberta performed better than only two US states: Hawaii and New York. Canadian provinces occupied the bottom nine positions. Quebec was in last place: 39.7% of its employment is unionized. Part of the explanation for the Canadian provinces' poor showing is contained in the first labour-market characteristic: the percentage of workers employed by the public sector. There is a much stronger inclination toward unionization in the public sector than there is in the private sector.³¹ For example, in 2010, 74.9% of the public sector was unionized in Canada but only 17.5% of the private sector (Statistics Canada, 2011a).³² In contrast, in the United States, 40.0% of the public sector was unionized but only 7.7% of the private sector (Hirsch and Macpherson, 2011). Canada's proportionally larger public sector, therefore, contributes to the higher rates of unionization observed there.³³

Another important contributing factor to the difference between Canadian and American unionization rates is that closed-shop unions are legally allowed in all Canadian provinces but in none of the US states. Closed-shop unions are created by collective bargaining agreements that require workers to join a union or bargaining agent and pay full union dues as a condition of employment (see Characteristic 4 for further information). In other words, individuals wishing to work at a unionized company in Canadian provinces can be required to join the union and pay full union dues. A number of studies have suggested that the differences in the choice afforded workers in the two countries account for some of the observed differences in unionization (Clemens et al., 2005).

- 32 Private-sector unionization ranged from a low of 8.5% in Prince Edward Island to a high of 25.1% in Quebec in 2010. For the same year, public-sector unionization ranged from a low of 70.0% in New Brunswick to 82.4% in Quebec (Statistics Canada, 2011a).
- 33 Canada's overall unionization rate in 2010 was 31.5% compared to 13.1% in the United States. For the same year, public-sector employment as a percentage of total employment was 20.6% in Canada and 15.8% in the United States. See Clemens et al., 2005 for a discussion of the factors explaining the differences in unionization between the two countries.

³¹ Public-sector unions tend to be structured with different rules and thus behave differently from their private-sector counterparts. For further information, see Christensen, 1980. Also, private-sector unions, particularly in the United States, have experienced a decline in the last 30 years; for a discussion of this decline and its impacts, see Hirsch, 2008.



Characteristic 3: Average unionized employment as a percentage of total employment, 2006–2010

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011a; Hirsch and Macpherson, 2011; calculations by authors.

Characteristic 4 Labour relations laws

The final characteristic of labour markets is the extent to which labour relations laws maintain a balance in the relations among employees, unions, and employers and, more broadly, enhance the flexibility of the labour market. This indicator is based on the Fraser Institute's larger study, *Labour Relations Laws in Canada and the United States: An Empirical Comparison (2009 Edition)* (Karabegović et al., 2009). This measure is intricately related to the previous measure, since the extent to which labour market flexibility is enhanced by labour relations laws is highly correlated with unionization levels.

Balance and flexibility in a labour market is crucial in providing an environment that encourages productive economic activity. Labour relations laws that are biased in favour of one group or another, or are overly prescriptive, inhibit the proper functioning of a labour market and thus reduce its performance. Empirical research indicates that rigid labour relations laws increase unemployment and reduce the participation rates of the young and elderly (Bierhanzl and Gwartney, 1998; Bertola et al., 2002; Salvanes, 1997). Labour relations laws have also been shown to affect investment. For example, one study by Morris Kleiner and Hwikwon Ham (2002), using data from 20 OECD countries from 1985 to 1995 and all US states from 1990 to 1999, found that more prescriptive labour relations laws were associated with lower levels of foreign direct investment and slower economic growth for the US states.

Characteristic 4 evaluates labour relations laws in the private sector for the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states based on whether or not they encourage flexibility and choice by balancing the needs of employers and employees. Labour relations laws are grouped into three areas: [1] organizing a union (certification and decertification), [2] union security, and [3] regulation of unionized firms. This section also presents the Index of Labour Relations Laws, a composite measure of labour relations laws for each Canadian province and US state. This overall index is based on the scores for each of the three areas of labour relations laws and provides a general assessment of a jurisdiction's approach to relations between workers and employers. It represents a measure of each jurisdiction's overall labour relations policy. Jurisdictions with labour relations laws that lead to a more flexible labour market receive higher scores, while jurisdictions with more restrictive approaches receive lower scores. A score of 10 does not necessarily indicate an optimal set of labour relations laws, as it is a relative measure of the degree to which labour relations legislation enhances flexibility across the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states.

Jurisdictional authority over the regulation of labour relations among employers, unions, and employees in Canada differs greatly from that in the United States. In Canada, regulation and enforcement of labour relations are largely decentralized; each province maintains its own set of labour relations laws. In the United States, on the other hand, private-sector labour



Characteristic 4: Index of Labour Relations Laws

relations laws are almost entirely centralized, regulated through federal law and enforced under federal authority by the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB). Since US labour relations laws are largely federal, US states differ in their regulation of labour relations only in having or not having workerchoice laws, otherwise known as Right-to-Work laws.

The 22 Right-to-Work states have the highest score (9.2 out of 10) among the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states, indicating that they create a labour relations environment with the most flexibility among all the jurisdictions. The remaining 28 US states tied for the 23rd position with an overall score of 7.5. The Canadian provinces occupied the bottom 10 positions (51st to 60th). The only province with a passing score (higher than five) was Alberta, which had an overall score of 5.3. Quebec (with a score of 1.3) has the most rigid set of labour relations laws of any jurisdiction in Canada and the United States, followed closely by Manitoba (1.8).

Below are a brief description and an overview of the results for each of the areas covered by the Index of Labour Relations Laws.³⁴

1 Certification and decertification

Certification and decertification refer to the processes through which a union acquires and loses its power to be the exclusive bargaining agent for a group of employees. To determine how well a jurisdiction balanced the needs of

³⁴ For a thorough analysis of the results for each of the areas covered by the Index of Labour Relations Laws, see Karabegović et al., 2009.

	Index of Relation	f Labour ns Laws	Organizing Union a Union Security		Regulation of Unionized Firms			
	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	 Score	Rank	Score	Rank
Alberta	5.3	51	10.0	1	0	51	6.0	51
British Columbia	2.8	56	6.3	53	0	51	2.0	55
Manitoba	1.8	59	3.3	60	0	51	2.0	55
New Brunswick	2.8	56	6.3	53	0	51	2.0	55
Newfoundland & Labrador	2.8	56	6.3	53	0	51	2.0	55
Nova Scotia	3.3	53	5.8	57	0	51	4.0	52
Ontario	3.4	52	6.3	53	0	51	4.0	52
Prince Edward Island	3.0	55	5.0	58	0	51	4.0	52
Quebec	1.3	60	3.8	59	0	51	0.0	60
Saskatchewan	3.2	54	7.5	2 ^c	0	51	2.0	55
US Right-to-Work States ^a	9.2	1 ^b	7.5	2 ^c	10	1 ^b	10.0	1 ^b
US Non Right-to-Work States	7.5	23 ^d	7.5	2 ^c	5	23 ^d	10.0	1 ^b

Characteristic 4: Index of Labour Relations Laws (scores out of 10; ranks out of 60)

a Right-to-Work States include Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Nebraska, Nevada, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oklahoma, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Wyoming (National Institute for Labor Relations Research, 2005; http://www.nilrr.org/).

b Tied for first place. c Tied for second place. d Tied for 23rd place.

Source: Karabegović et al., 2009.

workers and employers, the authors of *Labour Relations Laws in Canada and the United States* examined a number of aspects of certification and decertification, including the use of mandatory secret ballot elections, balanced voting thresholds, and remedial certification (table 1a).

2 Union security

Union security refers to regulations governing union membership and the payment of union dues by workers covered by a union agreement: whether or not provisions regarding mandatory union membership and dues payment can be included in a collective agreement. These provisions range from restrictive, where every worker must be a union member and pay full dues as a condition of employment, to flexible, where employees have the choice to become a union member or not and do not have to pay union dues.

The results for this measure of labour relations laws indicate that there are three distinct groups of jurisdictions (table 1b). The first group includes American Right-to-Work states, in which workers are permitted to choose whether or not to join a union and pay union dues. The second group consists of American states without Right-to-Work legislation. Workers in these states are permitted to choose whether or not to join a union but must remit at least a portion of the union dues to cover costs associated with negotiating and maintaining the collective agreement. The final group, the one that scores poorly on this measure, are the Canadian provinces. All 10 Canadian provinces, in one way or another, permit clauses in collective agreements that make union membership mandatory and require payment of dues in full.

3 Regulation of unionized firms

The regulation of unionized firms examines components of labour relations laws that come into effect once a firm is unionized; these include successor rights, provisions for technological changes, arbitration of disputes, replacement workers, and third-party picketing (table 1c).

Successor rights

Provisions governing successor rights determine whether and how collective bargaining agreements survive the transfer, by sale, consolidation, or other means, of a business from one employer (owner) to another. Successor rights are important to investment because they may deter potential investors from purchasing a business if an existing collective agreement (which they had no part in negotiating) prevents them from reorganizing the business to improve its performance. Stringent successor laws will impede the reorganization of a business or portion of a business that is struggling and the reallocation of its capital. Consequently, workers will not be provided with capital to improve their productivity and business performance will continue to suffer.

Technological change provisions

Provisions in labour relations laws that govern technological change require that employers give notice of technological investment and change to the union (and in some Canadian provinces to the minister of labour). Such provisions are barriers to technological change and could have serious adverse effects on productivity.

Arbitration of disputes

An important component of labour market flexibility is how disputes about a collective agreement, its meaning, application, and alleged violations are resolved when both parties cannot negotiate a solution or no longer wish to do so. Laws that force parties into immediate binding arbitration, without allowing voluntary efforts such as mediation or conciliation, may not only impose costs on both parties (for the arbitrator's fee and time from work) but may also create hostility between management and the union.

	Is vote by secret ballot required for certification?	Is vote by secret ballot required for decertification?	ls remedial certification allowed?	Certification/ Decertification differential (percentage points)	Can Labour Relations Board force binding arbitration on the two parties?	Can Labour Relations Board impose the terms & conditions of a first agreement directly?
British Columbia	Yes	Yes	Yes	0	Yes	No
Alberta	Yes	Yes	No	0	No	No
Saskatchewan	Yes	Yes	No	0	Yes	Yes
Manitoba	No	Yes	Yes	10	No	Yes
Ontario	Yes	Yes	Yes	0	Yes	No
Quebec	No	No	No	15	Yes	No
New Brunswick	No	Yes	Yes	0	No	No
Nova Scotia	Yes	Yes	Yes	10	No	No
Prince Edward Island	No	No	Yes	0	No	No
Newfoundland & Labrador	Yes	Yes	Yes	0	No	Yes
Right-to-Work States	Yes	Yes	Yes	0	No	No
Non Right-to-Work States	Yes	Yes	Yes	0	No	No

Table 1a: Areas covered by the Index of Labour Relations Laws—Certification/Decertification

Source: Karabegović et al., 2009.

Table 1b: Areas covered by the Index of Labour Relations Laws—Union security

	ls mandatory union membership prohibited?	Are mandatory union dues allowed?
British Columbia	No	Yes
Alberta	No	Yes
Saskatchewan	No	Yes
Manitoba	No	Yes
Ontario	No	Yes
Quebec	No	Yes
New Brunswick	No	Yes
Nova Scotia	No	Yes
Prince Edward Island	No	Yes
Newfoundland & Labrador	No	Yes
Right-to-Work States	Yes	No
Non Right-to-Work States	Yes	Yes

Source: Karabegović et al., 2009.

	Successor Rights: Is the existing collective agreement binding?	ls mandatory notice required for introduction of technological change?	Advanced notice of technological change	Must every collective bargaining agreement include a mechanism for the final and binding settlement of a grievance (i.e., arbitration)?	Are temporary replacement workers allowed?	Is third-party picketing allowed?
British Columbia	Yes	Yes	60 days	Yes	No	No
Alberta	Yes	No	n/a	Yes	Yes	No
Saskatchewan	Yes	Yes	90 days	Yes	Yes	Yes
Manitoba	Yes	Yes	90 days	Yes	Yes	Yes
Ontario	Yes	No	n/a	Yes	Yes	Yes
Quebec	Yes	Yes	not specified	Yes	No	Yes
New Brunswick	Yes	Yes	not specified	Yes	Yes	Yes
Nova Scotia	Yes	No	n/a	Yes	Yes	Yes
Prince Edward Island	Yes	No	n/a	Yes	Yes	Yes
Newfoundland & Labrador	Yes	No	n/a	Yes	No	Yes
Right-to-Work States	No	No	n/a	No	Yes	No
Non Right-to-Work States	No	No	n/a	No	Yes	No

Table 1c: Areas covered by the Index of Labour Relations Laws—Regulation of Unionized Firms

Source: Karabegović et al., 2009.

Replacement workers

In the event of a legal strike or lockout, an employer may wish to hire replacement workers. Employers can then continue partial business operations, maintain market share, and secure investor confidence while addressing reasons for the strike.

Third-party picketing

Third-party (or second-site) picketing refers to the ability of unions to picket and, therefore, disrupt the operations of enterprises not covered by the collective agreement.

Conclusion

Canadian provinces generally lag behind their US counterparts in the level of flexibility afforded to workers through labour relations laws. Such flexibility has been proven to provide great benefits to citizens not just in the United States but also around the world. Canadian provinces would be well advised to pursue balanced and less prescriptive labour laws in order to promote greater labour market flexibility.

Other areas of concern

In addition to labour relations laws, all of the Canadian provinces and US states have many other labour regulations including employment standards, occupational licensing, and workers' compensation. Research shows these also have an impact on the flexibility of the labour market.³⁵ Below are just a few Canadian examples of other aspects of labour regulation that decrease the flexibility and, thus, the performance of labour market. Unfortunately, there is currently very little empirical measurement of these factors, which prevents sound comparisons between Canada and the United States.

1 Employment standards acts

The various employment standards acts of the provincial governments are another component of labour law. Below is a summary of two of the core features of provincial employment labour standards laws and codes, mandatory overtime pay and exemptions from minimum wages.

Overtime requirements

All 10 Canadian provinces have some measure in their employment standards acts that requires overtime pay. The four western provinces (British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba) have requirements for overtime pay based on both the number of hours worked within a day as well as within a week. The remaining six provinces prescribe mandatory overtime payments based on a certain number of hours worked in a week.

The provinces of British Columbia, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Quebec, and Newfoundland & Labrador have the lowest weekly threshold for the number of hours worked before an employee must receive overtime pay: 40 hours. British Columbia imposes, in addition, a tiered system of overtime pay: an employee who works more than eight hours a day is to earn 1.5 times the normal pay for the extra hours; an employee who works more than 12 hours a day must earn twice the regular pay for that extra time. Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island have the highest number of hours per week (48) as a threshold for overtime pay.

Minimum wage exemptions

Another important aspect of the various provincial employment standards acts is the minimum wage exemptions they provide. Several Canadian provinces, such as Saskatchewan, New Brunswick, British Columbia, Ontario, and Newfoundland & Labrador, offer few or no exemptions from the minimum wage for certain types of employment. Alberta and Nova Scotia, on

³⁵ See Jolls (2007) for a discussion of the theory and a review of empirical research on overtime requirements and other aspects of labour standards.

the other hand, provide several job-classification exemptions, including those for workers such as farm employees, commissioned salespeople, apprentices and interns, educational or recreational camp employees, extras in film production, and those working on fishing boats. Prince Edward Island, Quebec, and Manitoba include some broad job-category exemptions.

2 Occupational licensing

Regulation of occupational licensing can affect labour market performance by impeding worker mobility.³⁶ Occupational licensing governs the entry requirements needed to hold job titles or to practice in such professions as medicine, law, accounting, and engineering. Occupational licensing regulations extend to numerous professional occupations and trades such as millwrights, pipe-fitters, and welders. The key to preserving labour market flexibility is to ensure occupational licensing does not act as a barrier to labour mobility. When those who are in professional occupations or trades in one jurisdiction are easily recognized as qualified in other jurisdictions, this increases the ability of workers to find jobs that provide them with the greatest return by allowing them to work interprovincially. It also allows employers to search for qualified people from a larger pool of workers.

Canadian governments, over the past couple of decades, have made significant progress on increasing labour mobility. However, complete labour mobility is still lacking among Canadian provinces. In 1995, the Canada-wide Agreement on Internal Trade (AIT) attempted to eliminate barriers to labour mobility but without much success (Knox and Karabegović, 2009).³⁷ Recently, there have been two major improvements in labour mobility across Canada. The first is the Trade, Investment, and Labour Mobility Agreement (TILMA) between British Columbia and Alberta, which came into effect in 2009. The overarching goal of the TILMA is to create a seamless economic region covering the two provinces by eliminating barriers to trade, investment, and labour mobility. The TILMA will likely increase the mobility of workers in Alberta and British Columbia and could help initiate strong labour market performance in the years to come. In July of 2010, TILMA was expanded into the New West Partnership Trade Agreement (NWPTA) between British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. The new NWPTA is an expansion of TILMA, with the added "clarity Saskatchewan was seeking on public ownership of Crowns and the ability of municipalities to support economic development." (New West Partnership, 2011). Concerns over Crown corporations and government investment were the reasons Saskatchewan decided not to join TILMA

³⁶ B. Peter Pashigian found that "occupational licensing has had a quantitatively large effect in reducing the interstate mobility of professionals" (1979: 24).

³⁷ Press releases and details of the agreement can be found at the web site of the Council of the Federation, http://www.councilofthefederation.ca/, as of July 23, 2008.

initially (Wood, 2007, August 3). New West Partnership Trade Agreement came into effect in July of 2010 and will be fully implemented by July 2013.

Initially, Ontario expressed some interest in joining TILMA (Munro, 2007, March 19) but did not sign the agreement. In September of 2011, Ontario and Quebec signed the Ontario-Quebec Trade and Cooperation Agreement that will "increase investment and trade between Ontario and Quebec, promote innovation and reduce long-standing barriers to business" (Ontario, Ministry of Economic Development and Trade, 2011). The government of Ontario claims that this agreement will improve labour mobility, though the Agreement does not go much further than the changes found in the labour mobility chapter of the Agreement on Internal Trade (AIT), discussed below.

The second major advance is a recent agreement signed by the 13 Canadian provincial and territorial premiers on labour mobility. In July 2008, the premiers agreed on mutual recognition of occupational licenses across all provinces. This means that anyone who is recognized as qualified for an occupation by a regulatory authority in one province will be recognized as qualified in the rest of Canada.³⁸ The agreement is without doubt a step in the right direction. However, as Knox (2010) points out, there are still some issues that need to be addressed by the provincial and territorial governments in order for this agreement to work effectively.

One of these issues is the lack of a low-cost and quick enforcement and dispute mechanism (Knox, 2010), a crucial factor for labour mobility. Moreover, a problem arises when dealing with occupations that are regulated in some provinces but not in others. Canadian governments agreed to resolve these differences but the commitment is voluntary (Knox, 2010), meaning that these issues may not be resolved for many years to come.

While regional agreements are beneficial, having a complete labour mobility on a national basis would be even more important. As Knox pointed out, "it is hard to imagine that the needs of Canadians in each province are so different as to justify significant differences in occupational standards and in certification requirements for the regulated professionals and skilled workers" (2010: 11).

³⁸ There are two standards associated with occupations: (a) the occupational standard that defines the occupation, and (b) the qualification or entry standards that establish the education, training, and experience that is necessary to be qualified for an occupation. Mutual recognition allows the entry standards to be different from one Canadian jurisdiction to another as long as they produce the necessary competencies. On the other hand, occupational standards should be substantially similar across Canada; otherwise, they will result in effectively different occupations. The Canadian governments have agreed to reconcile differences in occupational standards in cases where there are significant differences. As for trades, the Red Seal program is the primary vehicle through which regulated trades are mutually recognized (Human Resources and Skills Development Canada, 2010a, 2010c; Industry Canada, 2011).

	Aver provincia local pub emplo as a % emplo 2006-	rage al/state + olic sector oyment of total oyment, -2010	Average provincia local pub emplo as a % emplo 2006-	federal + al/state + olic sector yment of total yment, -2010	Aver minimu as a per of per- aggregat and v 2006-	rage m wage centage worker e salaries vages, -2010	Average unionization as a percentage of total employment, 2006–2010		Index of Labour Relations Law, 2009	
	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	Score
Alberta	44	14.5	31	15.6	22	27.2	49	24.5	51	5.3
British Columbia	46	15.3	42	17.2	53	37.2	56	31.5	56	2.8
Manitoba	58	22.9	59	27.3	58	42.3	58	37.1	59	1.8
New Brunswick	56	20.2	55	23.7	55	39.0	53	28.7	56	2.8
Nfld & Labrador	60	25.6	60	29.0	51	36.9	59	38.3	56	2.8
Nova Scotia	57	21.2	56	25.6	59	42.7	54	29.4	53	3.3
Ontario	48	16.2	48	19.0	52	37.1	52	27.9	52	3.4
Prince Edward Is.	54	19.3	57	26.1	60	45.5	55	31.1	55	3
Quebec	55	19.6	51	21.7	56	41.3	60	39.7	60	1.3
Saskatchewan	59	25.0	58	27.2	57	41.4	57	35.6	54	3.2
Alabama	32	13.2	41	16.6	25	27.3	22	10.9	1	9.2
Alaska	52	17.8	54	23.3	15	26.4	48	24.3	23	7.5
Arizona	22	12.1	19	14.1	37	29.2	18	9.0	1	9.2
Arkansas	39	13.7	32	15.7	45	31.5	5	6.0	1	9.2
California	23	12.3	22	14.2	18	26.6	44	18.2	23	7.5
Colorado	5	10.7	12	13.2	15	26.4	16	8.7	23	7.5
Connecticut	21	12.0	15	13.6	5	23.4	42	17.4	23	7.5
Delaware	27	12.6	25	14.7	7	23.6	26	12.8	23	7.5
Florida	11	11.3	13	13.3	40	30.2	10	7.1	1	9.2
Georgia	26	12.5	28	15.3	13	26.0	3	5.3	1	9.2
Hawaii	29	13.0	44	18.3	31	28.5	50	24.7	23	7.5
Idaho	36	13.4	30	15.5	46	31.8	13	7.6	1	9.2
Illinois	10	11.1	10	13.1	18	26.6	40	16.9	23	7.5
Indiana	8	10.8	6	12.6	20	26.8	26	12.8	23	7.5
lowa	36	13.4	26	14.9	44	31.4	29	13.4	1	9.2
Kansas	43	14.4	38	16.5	20	26.8	17	8.8	1	9.2
Kentucky	34	13.3	32	15.7	32	28.6	20	10.5	23	7.5
Louisiana	36	13.4	27	15.2	12	25.2	7	6.3	1	9.2
Maine	13	11.4	17	13.7	49	33.9	30	13.7	23	7.5
Maryland	24	12.4	52	22.0	6	23.5	31	14.2	23	7.5

Summary of provincial and state rankings (out of 60), labour market characteristics and regulation

	Aver provincia local pub emplo as a % emplo 2006-	rage al/state + ilic sector yment of total yment, -2010	Average provincia local pub emplo as a % emplo 2006-	federal + al/state + blic sector yment of total yment, -2010	Aver minimu as a per- of per- aggregat and v 2006-	rage m wage centage worker e salaries vages, -2010	Aver unioni as a perce total emp 2006-	rage ization entage of oloyment, -2010	Index o Relatio 20	f Labour ns Law, 09
	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	%	Rank	Score
Massachusetts	5	10.7	3	12.2	4	23.3	37	16.0	23	7.5
Michigan	8	10.8	4	12.4	36	29.0	45	19.6	23	7.5
Minnesota	18	11.8	10	13.1	10	24.9	38	16.5	23	7.5
Mississippi	48	16.2	46	18.8	41	30.4	10	7.1	1	9.2
Missouri	4	10.6	4	12.4	27	27.4	24	11.7	23	7.5
Montana	42	14.1	38	16.5	48	33.4	33	15.4	23	7.5
Nebraska	40	13.9	34	15.8	22	27.2	21	10.6	1	9.2
Nevada	2	10.1	2	11.7	11	25.1	42	17.4	1	9.2
New Hampshire	5	10.7	7	12.7	25	27.3	25	11.8	23	7.5
New Jersey	28	12.7	24	14.6	3	23.1	46	19.8	23	7.5
New Mexico	51	17.1	53	23.2	38	29.5	22	10.9	23	7.5
New York	45	14.7	38	16.5	1	21.4	51	26.3	23	7.5
North Carolina	32	13.2	28	15.3	22	27.2	1	4.5	1	9.2
North Dakota	47	15.4	45	18.5	33	28.7	15	8.5	1	9.2
Ohio	17	11.7	15	13.6	29	28.3	32	15.3	23	7.5
Oklahoma	34	13.3	43	17.6	33	28.7	14	7.7	1	9.2
Oregon	18	11.8	13	13.3	49	33.9	39	16.7	23	7.5
Pennsylvania	1	9.4	1	11.5	13	26.0	36	15.9	23	7.5
Rhode Island	3	10.5	9	12.9	42	30.8	41	17.1	23	7.5
South Carolina	41	14.0	36	16.3	30	28.4	4	5.5	1	9.2
South Dakota	11	11.3	19	14.1	47	32.7	9	6.9	1	9.2
Tennessee	16	11.6	19	14.1	15	26.4	8	6.4	1	9.2
Texas	24	12.4	23	14.4	9	24.4	5	6.0	1	9.2
Utah	29	13.0	37	16.4	28	27.7	12	7.3	1	9.2
Vermont	18	11.8	18	13.9	54	37.6	28	13.1	23	7.5
Virginia	14	11.5	47	18.9	2	22.4	2	5.2	1	9.2
Washington	29	13.0	35	15.9	43	31.3	47	21.3	23	7.5
West Virginia	48	16.2	49	19.8	39	30.1	34	15.5	23	7.5
Wisconsin	14	11.5	8	12.8	35	28.8	35	15.7	23	7.5
Wyoming	53	17.9	50	20.2	8	24.1	18	9.0	1	9.2

Summary (cont'd) of provincial and state rankings (of of 60), labour market characteristics and regulation

Source: Fraser Institute, 2011.

App A Methodology

Computing the Index of Labour Market Performance

The Index of Labour Market Performance assesses the performance of the 10 provincial and 50 US state labour markets across five indicators:

- 1 average total employment growth (2006–2010)
- **2** average private-sector employment growth (2006–2010)
- **3** average unemployment rate (2006–2010)
- **4** average duration of unemployment (2006–2010)
- **5** average GDP per worker (2005–2009).³⁹

Each indicator is standardized so that the lowest possible score is zero and the highest possible score is 10. The scores of the five indicators are then averaged, with all five indicators given equal weighting, to obtain an overall score ranging from zero to 10. The jurisdictions are then ranked according to their final score.

Depending on whether higher values are indicative of better or worse labour market performance, alternative formulas are used to transform the five indicators to a zero-to-10 scale.

When higher values are indicative of *better* labour market performance, the formula used to derive the zero-to-10 ratings is:

$$(V_i - V_{min}) / (V_{max} - V_{min}) \times 10.$$

 $V_{\rm i}$ is the jurisdiction's actual value for the indicator, $V_{\rm max}$ is the maximum value among all of the jurisdictions and $V_{\rm min}$ is the minimum value among all of the jurisdictions. A jurisdiction's rating will be 10 when its value for the indicator is the highest among all jurisdictions and zero when it is the lowest among all the jurisdictions.

When higher values are indicative of *worse* labour market performance, the formula used to derive the zero-to-10 ratings is:

$$(V_{max} - V_i) / (V_{max} - V_{min}) \times 10.$$

Index of Labour Relations Laws

For a detailed explanation of how the Index of Labour Relations Laws is computed, see Karabegović et al., 2009.

39 The GDP data for the Canadian provinces are not available for 2010 at this time and thus the data for the period 2005 to 2009 had to be used.

App B Other important factors

This appendix presents information on two indicators of labour market performance that are not included in the Index of Labour Market Performance: [1] migration and [2] time lost due to labour disputes. Data for the Canadian provinces and US states on time lost due to labour disputes are not comparable because the US datasets do not include enough detail to draw accurate conclusions. Nevertheless, migration and time lost due to labour disputes are important indicators of labour market performance.

1 Migration

The flow of workers into and out of jurisdictions is an important indicator of the performance of labour markets and of economic performance generally. These flows can often be explained by a lack of labour opportunities in the worker's home province or state. For example, using data from 1982 to 1995, Finnie found that interprovincial migration is generally "the route to better labour market opportunities for men, particularly for those coming from the lower income provinces and moving to higher income ones, and [is] especially the case in younger men" (1999: 259). Thus, the net addition or subtraction of workers can be an important indicator of larger economic successes or challenges.

The following section presents information on the net flow of citizens from one Canadian province to another and from one US state to another and compares these flows with the labour market performance of these jurisdictions. The data in this section come from census information from both countries. The measure used, net migration, is the difference between the number of people migrating out of a particular jurisdiction relative to the number of people migrating into the same jurisdiction. The figures throughout this section refer exclusively to domestic migration; foreign migration is excluded.

Canada

Table B1 contains migration data for the Canadian provinces from 2005/06 to 2009/10. Alberta recorded both the highest positive number of net migrants and the highest percentage of net migration from 2005/06 to 2009/10: 105,922 people or 2.8% of Alberta's population. Alberta was well ahead of the second-ranked province—and one of only other two provinces to have positive net migration during the time period considered—British Columbia, which had a net inflow of 57,810 people, 1.3% of its population. Ontario (75,174 leaving)

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	Total	Percentage of Population, 2010
Newfoundland & Labrador	-4,342	-4,067	-528	1,877	1,309	-5,751	-1.1%
Prince Edward Island	-639	-849	-291	-536	-876	-3,191	-2.2%
Nova Scotia	-3,024	-4,126	-1,794	-751	205	-9,490	-1.0%
New Brunswick	-3,487	-2,632	-908	-237	722	-6,542	-0.9%
Quebec	-9,411	-12,865	-11,682	-7,419	-3,252	-44,629	-0.6%
Ontario	-17,501	-20,047	-14,750	-15,601	-7,275	-75,174	-0.6%
Manitoba	-7,881	-5,500	-3,703	-3,111	-2,182	-22,377	-1.8%
Saskatchewan	-7,083	1,549	4,171	2,983	3,909	5,529	0.5%
Alberta	45,795	33,809	15,317	13,184	-2,183	105,922	2.8%
British Columbia	8,800	15,005	14,643	9,995	9,367	57,810	1.3%

Table B1: Net interprovincial migration by province, 2005/06–2009/10

Notes

[1] Net interprovincial migration is defined as the difference between the number of incoming and outgoing migrants.

[2] Net migration rates were calculated as a rate based on each year's population in a given jurisdiction.

[3] Annual period is from July 1 to June 30.

Sources: Statistics Canada, 2011a; calculations by authors.

and Quebec (44,629 leaving) had the highest negative net migration. Prince Edward Island (–2.2%) and Manitoba (–1.8 %) had the highest negative net migration as a percentage of their populations. Also of note is the recent dramatic swing in net migration in Saskatchewan and Newfoundland: there was significant migration out of both provinces at the beginning of the period under consideration but the trend reversed in recent years. Similarly, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick reversed the negative trend in 2009/10 and had a small, positive net-migration in 2009/10. Alberta, on the other hand, recorded a small, negative net migration in 2009/10.

In Canada, the net movement of people among provinces seems to be positively associated with the results of the Index of Labour Market Performance. Alberta ranked the highest among the Canadian provinces in the Index of Labour Market Performance, with a score of 9.0 (out of 10). Saskatchewan (8.4.) and British Columbia (7.0) ranked second and fourth among Canadian provinces. Prince Edward Island, which had the highest rate of negative net migration, had scores of 4.9 on the Index of Labour Market Performance, ranking last among the Canadian provinces.

One interesting insight gained from combining the information in table B1 and the results of the indicators of labour market performance is that a high rate of net migration out of a province can actually improve a jurisdiction's score and ranking in the Index of Labour Market Performance. For example, Manitoba recorded the second most negative net migration rate for the period from 2005/06 to 2009/10, with 1.8% of its population (-22,377) leaving the province. The outflow of its population resulted in an unemployment rate that is lower than it would otherwise have been, which improves the province's overall score in the Index of Labour Market Performance.

United States

The data for the US states (table B2) show similar, though much weaker, results: jurisdictions with strong labour markets (and with strong economies in general) tend to attract migrants; the opposite also holds. The reason that data on net migration and labour market performance show a weak association is that the net-migration data lags a couple of years and, as a result, does not capture the recent recession. Labour market performance data, on the other hand, covers not only the recession but also the recent recovery.⁴⁰ However, on average, top 10 states with highest net-migration rates still out-perform the bottom 10 states on the Index of Labour Market Performance, with a score of 4.9 versus 4.3, respectively. The same holds for states in the top half of net-migration rankings versus those of the bottom half.

Arizona and Nevada rank first and second for positive net migration rates. Arizona attracted 435,156 net migrants in the period from 2004/05 to 2008/09, or 6.6% of its population.⁴¹ Nevada welcomed 158,985 migrants over the same period, 6.0% of its population. On the other hand, Louisiana and Rhode Island had two of the most negative net migration rates in the United States, 5.1% and 4.7% of their populations between 2004/05 to 2008/09.

One area of the results from the United States deserves special attention. Table B2 shows that there has been a significant degree of interstate migration in the Southern US states; particularly, there has been a large recent migration of people from Louisiana to neighbouring states. This movement is most likely the result of the devastation caused by Hurricane Katrina, which struck Louisiana in August 2005. While Louisiana experienced an outflow of people in 2004/05, this dramatically increased in 2005/06 to 271,330. As might be expected, nearby states such as Georgia, Alabama, and especially Texas experienced positive rates of interstate migration. The large outflow of people likely explains Louisiana's decline in performance in 2005/06. Interestingly, Louisiana experienced a positive net migration from 2006/07 to 2008/09 (27,500, 13,555, and 14,647 people), perhaps indicating that the state is on the path to recovery.

⁴⁰ The association between net migration and the Index of Labour Market Performance was stronger in previous editions of the report, when the time periods covered overlapped to a greater extent.

^{41 2008/09} data for the US states is the most recent data available as of July 2011.

The relationship of migration to labour market performance—and, in particular, to the Index of Labour Market Performance—requires more detailed statistical analysis. That said, the preliminary results outlined above indicate some degree of positive relationship between the two measures. Additional information about the demographics of workers moving into and out of jurisdictions as well as more detailed economic data are required to make a more definitive statement about the relationship between the movement of the population and labour market performance. However, preliminary analysis confirms the economic intuition that the working-age population appears to pursue labour opportunities by leaving jurisdictions with poorly performing labour markets for areas with better performing labour markets.

Table B2: Net domestic migration by state, 2004/05–2008/09

	2004/05	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	Total	Percentage of population, 2009
Alabama	16,248	32,945	18,496	15,118	11,044	93,851	2.0%
Alaska	-868	-1,981	-3,909	-3,732	979	-9,511	-1.4%
Arizona	132,123	137,697	87,245	62,980	15,111	435,156	6.6%
Arkansas	15,405	21,361	7,946	6,934	5,298	56,944	2.0%
California	-250,028	-285,494	-268,809	-144,061	-98,798	-1,047,190	-2.8%
Colorado	8,600	31,864	33,021	36,878	35,591	145,954	2.9%
Connecticut	-17,357	-15,125	-24,218	-14,985	-7,824	-79,509	-2.3%
Delaware	7,813	5,792	4,615	4,126	2,580	24,926	2.8%
Florida	266,850	174,416	37,650	-9,286	-31,179	438,451	2.4%
Georgia	62,318	120,420	98,666	56,674	26,604	364,682	3.7%
Hawaii	1,058	-3,461	-11,849	-3,752	-5,298	-23,302	-1.8%
Idaho	20,215	22,049	19,975	12,767	1,555	76,561	5.0%
Illinois	-85,236	-72,434	-56,984	-52,349	-48,249	-315,252	-2.4%
Indiana	3,423	6,530	628	-1,979	-6,805	1,797	0.0%
lowa	-5,533	-598	-2,491	411	-2,135	-10,346	-0.3%
Kansas	-10,937	-6,743	-3,280	284	-1,242	-21,918	-0.8%
Kentucky	13,606	10,464	17,044	11,828	6,268	59,210	1.4%
Louisiana	-14,335	-271,330	27,500	13,555	14,647	-229,963	-5.1%
Maine	2,586	395	-963	-2,063	-2,937	-2,982	-0.2%
Maryland	-12,488	-25,890	-33,716	-32,161	-11,163	-115,418	-2.0%
Massachusetts	-55,443	-44,064	-32,607	-18,675	3,614	-147,175	-2.2%

Fraser Institute / www.fraserinstitute.org

	2004/05	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	Total	Percentage of population, 2009
Michigan	-57,267	-73,991	-95,787	-109,257	-87,339	-423,641	-4.2%
Minnesota	-12,513	-5,269	-5,028	-7,136	-8,813	-38,759	-0.7%
Mississippi	553	-16,819	3,833	-753	-5,529	-18,715	-0.6%
Missouri	7,804	11,302	4,501	-2,384	-124	21,099	0.4%
Montana	5,731	6,568	6,308	5,986	2,410	27,003	2.8%
Nebraska	-3,515	-5,168	-5,367	-1,491	-956	-16,497	-0.9%
Nevada	52,331	53,827	40,312	16,316	-3,801	158,985	6.0%
New Hampshire	2,722	1,790	-2,374	-2,473	-2,602	-2,937	-0.2%
New Jersey	-67,340	-77,639	-72,370	-56,208	-31,690	-305,247	-3.5%
New Mexico	6,981	7,703	8,082	1,032	3,366	27,164	1.4%
NewYork	-248,647	-233,306	-185,638	-126,209	-98,178	-891,978	-4.6%
North Carolina	73,418	110,632	116,245	98,074	59,108	457,477	4.9%
North Dakota	-3,390	-2,087	-2,251	-381	1,375	-6,734	-1.0%
Ohio	-45,033	-50,275	-47,350	-49,752	-36,278	-228,688	-2.0%
Oklahoma	-531	15,688	14,736	7,954	18,345	56,192	1.5%
Oregon	22,821	33,735	25,297	24,756	16,173	122,782	3.2%
Pennsylvania	-3,334	3,312	-5,056	-11,462	1,346	-15,194	-0.1%
Rhode Island	-10,937	-11,100	-12,013	-8,816	-6,172	-49,038	-4.7%
South Carolina	30,133	48,538	54,115	49,736	31,480	214,002	4.7%
SouthDakota	160	1,988	2,146	2,194	1,619	8,107	1.0%
Tennessee	42,720	50,821	47,193	31,198	20,605	192,537	3.1%
Texas	53,582	219,742	138,088	140,862	143,423	695,697	2.8%
Utah	9,373	18,428	23,846	17,605	8,623	77,875	2.8%
Vermont	-556	-654	-1,767	-1,703	-975	-5,655	-0.9%
Virginia	29,335	10,184	3,796	2,678	18,238	64,231	0.8%
Washington	23,579	47,614	31,774	40,588	38,201	181,756	2.7%
WestVirginia	2,283	2,614	2,449	3,788	4,510	15,644	0.9%
Wisconsin	-2,042	-5,560	-4,995	-7,022	-5,672	-25,291	-0.4%
Wyoming	325	3,207	6,638	5,390	7,192	22,752	4.2%

Table B2 (continued): Net domestic migration by state, 2004/05–2008/09

Notes: [1] This data is collected from July to July. [2] A negative value for net migration is indicative of net migration out of a state; more migrants left an area than entered it. Positive values reflect net migration into an area. [3] Net migration rates were calculated as a rate based on each year's population in a given jurisdiction.

Sources: US Census Bureau, 2010; calculations by authors.

2 Working days lost due to labour disputes

Labour disputes⁴² are an indicator of labour market performance as they help to explain differences in employment opportunities for workers. Labour disputes adversely affect employment opportunities by decreasing investment and business activity.⁴³ They also discourage investment and negatively affect business activity because labour disputes can cause profits and market share to decline. Investment and business activity are critical to workers as they have a positive effect on high and growing wages and, ultimately, on living standards.

Research shows that the primary way in which labour disputes discourage investment and business activity is by lowering the value of firms. They do so because they tend to reduce the rate of return to potential investors. A study by Robert Hanrahan and his colleagues (1997) in the *Review of Financial Economics* examined the impact of labour disputes on the expected profitability of Canadian firms listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The authors found that disputes during collective bargaining decreased returns by 4.5%.⁴⁴ Moreover, the main findings suggest that the longer the dispute, the greater the harmful impact on returns. There is similar evidence from the United States. A study in *Industrial Relations* by Jonathan Kramer and Thomas Hyclak (2002) examined the stock market reaction to labour disputes in US manufacturing industries from January 1982 to July 1999. They found that strikes had negative effects on the cumulative stock-market returns of firms involved in those strikes: such firms saw their returns decrease by -0.7% to -0.8%.⁴⁵

Lower rates of return caused by labour disputes have been shown to discourage investors. A study by Morris Kleiner and Hwikwon Ham (2002) examined the impact of national levels of unionization, strike levels, public policies toward labour, and the structure of collective bargaining within a nation on a country's foreign direct investment (FDI). Examining 20 OECD nations from 1985 to 1995 and all US states from 1990 to 1999, the authors found that strikes

- 44 Becker and Olson (1986) found similar results. Using data from 1962 to 1982, they found that strikes substantially affected shareholder equity: the average strike involving 1,000 or more workers resulted in a 4.1% drop in shareholder equity.
- 45 Strikes do not only affect the value of struck firms; they also can affect the value of thirdparty firms. For instance, Persons (1995) used stock market data for the years 1965 to 1990 to estimate the effects of strikes against US automobile producers on the stock value of their steel suppliers. Persons found that steel suppliers experienced returns ranging from -1.6% to -2.5% upon announcements of automobile strikes.

⁴² Labour disputes include strikes and lock-outs. In a strike, employees cease working in order to compel the employer to accept certain working conditions. In a lock-out, an employer closes the place of employment, suspends work, or refuses to continue to employ a number of his employees in order to compel workers to accept certain employment conditions (Craig, 1990).

⁴³ Several factors explain why some jurisdictions have more labour disputes than others. See Gunderson and Melino, 1990; Gunderson et al., 1989; and Cramton et al., 1999.

indeed have a direct effect on FDI: jurisdictions with more days lost from strikes (per 1,000 employees, per year) are associated with lower levels of FDI.

More recently, a study by Paroma Sanyal and Nidhiya Menon (2005), using data on investment and business activity (defined as the place where an employer chooses to conduct business) from India for the period from 1997 to 1999, found that jurisdictions that suffer frequent labour disputes have less investment and less business activity than jurisdictions with fewer work stoppages.

Observations

There are 32 jurisdictions, including three Canadian provinces (Newfoundland, New Brunswick, and Prince Edward Island), tied for first place among the 60 jurisdictions, with an average of zero work days lost per 1,000 workers from 2005 to 2009 (figure B1).⁴⁶ The bottom-ranked jurisdiction was British Columbia, with an average of 105.5 work days lost per 1,000 workers. This was far worse than the jurisdiction ranked second-last, Kansas, which lost an average of 68.9 work days per 1,000 workers.

Canadian provinces tended to have a higher average number of work days lost from labour disputes than US states. Four of the bottom 10 jurisdictions were Canadian provinces: Saskatchewan, Ontario, Quebec, and British Columbia. Manitoba (43rd), Alberta (47th) and Nova Scotia (49th) ranked in the bottom half of all jurisdictions.

Within the United States, Right-to-Work states tended to rank higher than non-RTW states. Of the 22 Right-to-Work states, 16 were in the top half of all jurisdictions: all 16 recorded an average of zero person-days lost from 2005 to 2009.⁴⁷

- 46 This measure only captures days lost from labour disputes involving 1,000 or more workers. The fact that some of the smaller jurisdictions have few businesses with 1,000 or more workers may help explain, at least in part, why they show few work days lost. According to Statistics Canada (2007b), Prince Edward Island, for example, had only five firms with 1,000 or more workers in 2004; New Brunswick had only 21. In comparison, Ontario had 494 firms of this size. Strikes affecting multiple states are not included.
- 47 The differences in the number of days lost from work stoppages may also be driven by the public sector, which has a much higher rate of unionization. In order to evaluate this issue, more detailed data were used to compare work days lost in the public sector with those lost in the private sector. The breakdown of work stoppages in the private and public sector is only available for the Canadian provinces: the average number of work days lost in the public sector due to labour disputes from 2005 to 2009 ranged from zero in three provinces (Newfoundland, Prince Edward Island, and New Brunswick) to 306.2 in Quebec. In contrast, the number of work days lost in the private sector. For the remaining four provinces, the days lost per 1,000 employees range from 1.5 in Quebec to 67.6 in British Columbia. These results show that among Canadian provinces, work days lost are higher in the public sector than in the private sector.

Alabama Alaska		1 1	 			0.0 0.0
Connecticut		1	1	1	1	0.0
Delaware		1	1	Į.	i.	0.0
Florida		Note: These dat	a measure only	work stoppages	s affecting 1,000 v	vorkers 0.0
Idaho		or more. Work s	stoppages affect	ing multiple sta	tes are not includ	ded. 0.0
lowa						0.0
Kentucky		l l	1	1		0.0
Louisiana		1	1	l I	1	0.0
Maine		1	1	1	1	0.0
Montana		1	l I	1	1	0.0
Nebraska		1	 	1	 	0.0
Nevada		1	1	1	1	0.0
New Brunswick		1	1	1 		0.0
New Mexico		1	1	l I	1	0.0
Newioundiand & Labrador		1	1	1		0.0
North Dakota		1	1	l I	1	0.0
Oklahoma		1	1	1	1	0.0
Oregon		1	l I	1	1	0.0
Prince Edward Island		1	 	1	 	0.0
Khode Island		1	1	1	1	0.0
South Dakota		1	1	1		0.0
Tennessee		1	1	1	1	0.0
Utah		1	1	1		0.0
Vermont		1	1	l I	1	0.0
Virginia		1	1	1	1	0.0
Wyoming		1	I I	1	1	0.0
Colorado		1	- 	 		0.0
Georgia		1	 	1	1	0.8
New Jersey						1.1
Indiana	L	1	1	1		1.3
Massachusetts		1	1	l I	1	1.4 15
Texas	6	1	1	1		1.7
Washington		1	 	l I	1	2.1
California		1	1	1	1	2.5
Missouri		1	I I	1	1	2.7
Manitoba		1	- 			4.6
Arkansas		1	 	1	1	4.7 5.4
New York			· 			5.5
Alberta			1	1		5.7
Michigan		1	1	1	1	6.8
Nova Scotia		l l	1	1		9.5
New Hampshire		1	1	l l	1	10.5 18.7
West Virginia			1	1	1	20.1
Mississippi			I I	1	1	24.7
Minnesota			1	1	1	25.6
Ohio		1		 		39.0
SaskalcheWah Ontario				1		49.2
Ouebec						68.4
Kansas					l l	68.9
British Columbia			ı 1		1	105.5
	0 2	20 4	.0 6	60 8	30 10	0 120
			Average wor	king days lost		

Figure B1: Working days lost per 1,000 employees due to labour disputes, 2005–2009

Sources: Human Resources and Skills Development Canada, 2011b; Statistics Canada, 2011a; US Dep't of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2011b, 2011d.

References

Addison, John T., and Barry T. Hirsch (1989). Union Effects on Productivity, Profits, and Growth: Has the Long Run Arrived? *Journal of Labor Economics* 7 (January): 72–105.

Addison, John T., and Joachim Wagner (1993). US Unionism and R&D Investment: Evidence from a Simple Cross-Country Test. *Journal of Labor Research* 15, 2 (Spring): 191–97.

Addison, John T., and John B. Chilton (1993). Can We Identify Union Productivity Effects? *Industrial Relations* 32 (Winter): 124–32.

Addison, John T., and John B. Chilton (1996). Self-Enforcing Union Contracts: Efficient Investment and Employment. Unpublished paper. Department of Economics, University of South Carolina.

Aidt, Toke, and Zafiris Tzannatos (2002). *Unions and Collective Bargaining: Economic Effects in a Global Environment*. World Bank.

Algan, Yann, Pierre Cahuc, and André Zylberberg (2002). Public Employment and Labor Market Performance. *Economic Policy* 17, 34: 7–66.

Alonso, Alberto, Cristina Eschevarria, and Kien Tran (2004). Long-Run Economic Peformance and the Labor Market. *Southern Economic Journal* 70, 4: 905–19.

Arman, Faisal, Dexter Samida, and Michael A. Walker (1998). *Provincial Economic Freedom in Canada*, 1981–1998. Fraser Institute. http://www.fraserinstitute.org.

Baker, Michael (2005). *Minimum Wages and Human Capital Investments of Young Workers: Work Related Training and School Enrolment*. HRSDC/IC/SSHRC Skills Research Initiative Working Paper 2005 B–04.

Baker, Michael, Dwayne Benjamin, and Shuchita Stanger (1999). The Highs and Lows of the Minimum Wage Effect: A Time-Series Cross-Section Study of the Canadian Law. *Journal of Labor Economics* 17, 2 (April): 318–50.

Baldwin, Carliss Y. (1983). Productivity and Labor Unions: An Application of the Theory of Self-Enforcing Contracts. *Journal of Business* 56 (April): 155–85.

Bande, Roberto, and Marika Karanassou (2008). Labour Market Flexibility and Regional Unemployment Rate Dynamics: Spain 1980–1995. *Papers in Regional Science* 88, 1 (July): 181–207.

Barro, Robert J. (2010, February 23). The Stimulus Evidence One Year On. *Wall Street Journal.* http://online.wsj.com/article/SB1000142405274870475130457 5079260144504040.html>.

Bartel, P. Ann, and Ann E. Harrison (1999). *Ownership versus Environment: Why Are Public Sector Firms Inefficient?* NBER Working Paper No. 7043. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Bartelsman, Eric, Pieter A. Gautier, and Joris de Wind (2011). *Employment Protection, Technology Choice, and Worker Allocation*. DNB Working Paper No. 295. De Nederlandsche Bank. http://www.dnb.nl/en/binaries/working%20paper%20295_tcm47-253008.pdf>.

Bastarache, Lise (1999). *Interprovincial Mobility of Highly Skilled Workers*. Royal Bank of Canada Economics Department. <<u>http://www.rbc.com/</u> economics/index.html>.

Becker, Brian E., and Craig A. Olson (1986). The Impact of Strikes on Shareholder Equity. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 39, 3: 425–38.

Becker, Brian, and Craig Olsen (1989). Unionization and Shareholder Interest. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 42, 2 (January): 246–61.

Bender, Keith A. (2003). Examining Equality between Public- and Private-Sector Wage Distributions. *Economic Inquiry* 41, 1: 62–79.

Bennett, James (1994). *A Higher Standard of Living in Right-to-Work States*. National Institute for Labor Relations Research.

Bertola, Giuseppe, Francine D. Blau, and Lawrence M. Khan (2002). *Labor Market Institutions and Demographic Employment Patterns*. NBER Working Paper No. 9043. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Besley, Timothy, and Robin Burgess (2004). Can Labor Regulation Hinder Economic Performance? Evidence from India. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 119, 1 (February): 91–134. Betts, R. Julian, Cameron W. Odgers, and Michael K. Wilson (2001). The Effects of Unions on Research and Development: An Empirical Analysis Using Multi-Year Data. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 34, 3 (August): 785–806.

Bierhanzl, Edward, and James Gwartney (1998). Regulation, Unions, and Labor Markets. *Regulation* 21, 3: 40–53.

Block, Walter E., and Michael A. Walker (1982). *Discrimination, Affirmative Action, and Equal Opportunity*. Fraser Institute.

Borjas, George (2002). *The Wage Structure and the Sorting of Workers into the Public Sector*. NBER Working Paper No. 9313. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Boubakri, Narjess, Jean-Claude Cosset, and Omrane Guedhami (2004). Privatization, Corporate Governance and Economic Environment: Firm-Level Evidence from Asia. *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal* 12: 65–90.

Burkhauser, V. Richard, Kenneth A. Couch, and David C. Wittenburg (2000). A Reassessment of the New Economics of the Minimum Wage Literature with Monthly Data from the Current Population Survey. *Journal of Labor Economics* 18, 4: 653–80.

Butler, Eamonn (ed.) (1992). *Privatization in the Nineties*. Adam Smith Institute.

Caballero, Ricardo, Kevin Cowan, Eduardo Engel, and Alejandro Micco (2004). *Effective Labor Regulation and Microeconomic Flexibility*. NBER Working Paper No. 10744. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Calcagnini, Giorgio, and Germana Giobini (2006). *How Does Employment Protection Legislation Affect Firm Investment? The European Case.* Conference Paper from the IZA/CEPR European Summer Symposium in Labor Economics. Institute for the Study of Labor.

Chaplin, Duncan D., Mark D. Turner, and Andreas D. Pape (2003). Minimum Wages and School Enrollment of Teenagers: A Look at the 1990s. *Economics of Education Review* 22: 11–21.

Chera, Satinder, and Fazil Mihlar (1998). *The Government of British Columbia*, 1991–1998: *An Assessment of Performance and a Blueprint for Economic Recovery*. Critical Issues Bulletin. Fraser Institute. Christensen, Sandra (1980). *Unions and the Public Interest: Collective Bargaining in the Government Sector*. Fraser Institute.

Claessens, Stijn, M. Ayhan Kose, and Marco E. Terrones (2008). *What Happens During Recessions, Crunches and Busts?* IMF Working Paper WP/08/274. International Monetary Fund. http://www.aeaweb.org/annual_mtg_papers/2009/retrieve.php?pdfid=208>.

Clark, Kim B. (1980a). The Impact of Unionization on Productivity: A Case Study. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 33 (July): 451–69.

Clark, Kim B. (1980b). Unionization and Productivity: Micro-Econometric Evidence. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 95 (December): 613–39.

Clark, Kim B. (1984). Unionization and Firm Performance: The Impact on Profits, Growth, and Productivity. *American Economic Review* 74 (December): 893–919.

Clemens, Jason, and Niels Veldhuis (2009). Comparing Economic Downturns. *Fraser Forum* (November): 5–7.

Clemens, Jason, Amela Karabegović, and Niels Veldhuis (2003). *Ontario Prosperity: Is Best of Second Best Good Enough?* Studies in Economic Prosperity No. 1. Fraser Institute.

Clemens, Jason, and Nadeem Esmail (2002a). Crown Corporations Part I: We're Still Debating This? *Fraser Forum* (May): 20–22. <<u>http://www.fraserinstitute.org</u>>.

Clemens, Jason, and Nadeem Esmail (2002b). Crown Corporations Part II: Where to from Here? *Fraser Forum* (June): 19–22. <<u>http://www.fraserinstitute.org</u>>.

Clemens, Jason, Charles Lammam, Milagros Palacios, and Niels Veldhuis (2007). *Government Failure in Canada, 2007 Edition: A Review of the Auditor General's Reports, 1992–2006*. Critical Issues Bulletin. Fraser Institute.

Clemens, Jason, Joel Emes, and Nadeem Esmail (2002). *Saskatchewan Prosperity: Taking the Next Step.* Public Policy Sources No. 57. Fraser Institute. Clemens, Jason, Niels Veldhuis, and Amela Karabegović (2005). *Explaining Canada's High Unionization Rates*. Fraser Alert. Fraser Institute.

Cogan, John F., John B. Taylor, and Volker Wieland (2009, September 17). The Stimulus Didn't Work. *Wall Street Journal*. http://www.stanford.edu/~johntayl/2009_pdfs/The-Stimulus-Did-not-Work-WSJ-09-17-09.pdf>.

Connolly, A. Robert, Barry T. Hirsch, and Mark Hirschey (1986). Union Rent Seeking, Intangible Capital, and Market Value of the Firm. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 68, 4: 567–77.

Craig, Alton W. J. (1990). *The System of Industrial Relations in Canada*. Prentice-Hall.

Cramton, Peter, Morley Gunderson, and Joseph Tracy (1999). The Effect of Collective Bargaining Legislation on Strikes and Wages. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 81, 3 (August): 475–87.

Cuñat, Alejandro, and Marc Melitz (2007). *Volatility, Labor Market Flexibility, and the Pattern of Comparative Advantage*. NBER Working Paper No. 13062. National Bureau of Economic Research.

D'Amuri, Francesco, and Giovanni Peri (2011). *Immigration, Jobs, and Employment Protection: Evidence from Europe*. NBER Working Paper No. 17139. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Demekas, Dimitri, and Zenon Kontolemis (2000). Government Employment and Wages and Labor Market Performance. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics* 62, 3: 391–415.

Di Tella, Rafael, and Robert MacCulloch (2005). The Consequences of Labor Market Flexibility: Panel Evidence Based on Survey Data. *European Economic Review* 49: 1225–59.

Edwards, Chris (2006). *Federal Pay Outpaces Private-Sector Pay*. Cato Institute Tax and Budget Bulletin No. 35. <<u>http://www.cato.org/pubs/tbb/tbb-</u>0605-35.pdf>.

Ehrlich, Isaac, Georges Gallais-Hamonno, Zhiqiang Liu, and Randall Lutter (1994). Productivity Growth and Firm Ownership: An Empirical Investigation. *Journal of Political Economics* 102: 1006–38. Elsby, Michael, Bart Hobijn, and Aysegul Sahin (2010). *The Labor Market in the Great Recession*. Prepared for Brookings Panel on Economic Activity.

Engemann, M. Kristie, and Howard J. Wall (2010). The Effects of Recessions across Demographic Groups. *Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review* 92, 1: 1–26 (January/February). http://research.stlouisfed.org/ publications/review/10/01/Engemann.pdf>.

Eriksson, Tor, and Niels Westergaard-Nielsen (2007). *Wage and Labor Mobility in Denmark, 1980–2000.* NBER Working Paper No. 13064. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Even, William, and David Macpherson (2003). The Wage and Employment Dynamics of Minimum Wage Workers. *Southern Economic Journal* 69, 3: 676–90.

Fang, Tony, and John S. Heywood (2006). Unionization and Plant Closure in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 39, 4: 1173–94.

Fallick, C. Bruce, and Kevin A. Hassett (1999). Investment and Union Certification. *Journal of Labor Economics* 17, 3: 570–82.

Feldmann, Horst (2006). Government Size and Unemployment: Evidence from Industrial Countries. *Public Choice* 127: 451–67.

Finnie, Ross (1999). Inter-Provincial Migration in Canada: A Longitudinal Analysis of Movers and Stayers and the Associated Income Dynamics. *Canadian Journal of Regional Science* 22, 3 (Autumn): 228–62.

Flaherty, Sean (1987). Strike Activity, Worker Militancy, and Productivity Change in Manufacturing, 1961–1981. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 40, 4: 585–600.

Freeman, B. Richard, and Morris M. Kleiner (1999). Do Unions Make Enterprises Insolvent? *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 52, 4 (July): 510–27.

Freeman, Richard (2007). *Labor Market Institutions around the World*. NBER Working Paper No. 13242. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Friesen, Jane (1996). The Response of Wages to Protective Labor Legislation: Evidence from Canada. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 49, 2 (January): 243–55. Godin, Keith, and Niels Veldhuis (2009). *The Economic Effects of Minimum Wages in British Columbia*. Studies in Labour Markets. Fraser Institute.

Gratton, Sylvie, Information Consultant, Industrial Relations, Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (2011, June 8). Work Stoppages by Province from 1980 to 2009. Special data request received electronically.

Grout, Paul A. (1984). Investment and Wages in the Absence of Binding Contracts: A Nash Bargaining Approach. *Econometrica* 52 (March): 449–60.

Grubel, Herbert, and Michael A. Walker (1978). *Unemployment Insurance: Global Evidence of Its Effects on Unemployment*. Fraser Institute.

Guillard, Marie-Claire, Economist, Local Area Unemployment Statistics, Bureau of Labor Statistics, US Department of Labor (2003, June 16). Special data request received electronically.

Gunderson, Morley (2005). *Minimum Wages in Canada: Theory, Evidence and Policy*. Prepared for the Federal Labour Standards Review Commission.

Gunderson, Morley (2007). *Minimum Wages: Issues and Options for Ontario*. Prepared for the Ontario Ministry of Finance. http://www.fin.gov. on.ca/english/publications/2007/Gunderson/>.

Gunderson, Morley, and Angelo Melino (1990). The Effects of Public Policy on Strike Duration. *Journal of Labor Economics* 8, 3: 295–316.

Gunderson, Morley, John Kervin, and Frank Reid (1989). The Effect of Labour Relations Legislation on Strike Incidence. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 22, 4: 779–94.

Gylfason, Thorvaldur, Tryggvi Thor Herbertsson, and Gylfi Zoega (2001). Ownership and Growth. *World Bank Economic Review* 15, 93: 431–49.

Hale, Dominic (2007). International Comparisons of Labor Disputes in 2005. *Economic and Labor Market Review* 1, 4 (April): 23–31.

Hanrahan, Robert, Joseph Kushner, Felice Martinello, and Isidore Masse (1997). The Effect of Work Stoppages on the Value of Firms in Canada. *Review of Financial Economics* 6, 2:151–66.

Heckman, James J. (1993). What Has Been Learned about Labor Supply in the Past Twenty Years? *American Economics Review* 82: 116–21.

Hernandez de Cos, Pablo, Isabel Argimon, and Jose Manuel Gonzalez-Paramo (2004). Public Ownership and Business Performance in the Spanish Manufatcuring Sector, 1983–1996. *Public Finance Review* 32, 2: 148–82.

Hirsch, Barry T. (1990). Market Structure, Union Rent Seeking, and Firm Profitability. *Economic Letters* 32 (January): 75–79.

Hirsch, Barry T. (1991a). *Labor Unions and the Economic Performance of Firms*. W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.

Hirsch, Barry T. (1991b). Union Coverage and Profitability among US Firms. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 73 (February): 69–77.

Hirsch, Barry T. (1992). Firm Investment Behaviour and Collective Bargaining. *Industrial Relations* 31 (Winter): 95–121.

Hirsch, Barry T. (1993). Trucking Deregulation, Unionization, and Earnings: Is the Union Premium a Compensating Differential? *Journal of Labor Economics* 11 (April): 279–301.

Hirsch, Barry T. (1997). Unionization and Economic Performance: Evidence on Productivity, Profits, Investment, and Growth. *Public Policy Sources* No. 3. Fraser Institute.

Hirsch, Barry T. (2008). Sluggish Institutions in a Dynamic World: Can Unions and Industrial Competitions Coexist? *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 22, 1: 153–76.

Hirsch, Barry T., and Albert N. Link (1984). Unions, Productivity, and Productivity Growth. *Journal of Labor Research* 5 (Winter): 29–37.

Hirsch, Barry T., and David A. Macpherson (1995). Earnings, Rents, and Competition in the Airline Labor Market. Unpublished paper. Department of Economics, Florida State University.

Hirsch, Barry T., and David Macpherson (2011). *Union Membership and Coverage Database from the CPS*. http://www.unionstats.com/, as of July 27, 2011.

Hirsch, Barry T., and Barbara A. Morgan (1994). Shareholder Risk and Returns in Union and Nonunion Firms. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 47 (January): 302–18.
Hirsch, Barry T., and Kislaya Prasad (1995). Wage-Employment Determination and a Union Tax on Capital: Can Theory and Evidence Be Reconciled? *Economics Letters* 48 (April): 61–71.

Hörner, Johannes, L. Rachel Ngai, and Claudia Olivetti (2007). Public Enterprises and Labor Market Performance. *International Economic Review* 48, 2: 363–84.

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (2011a). *Labour Mobility*. <http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/eng/workplaceskills/labour_mobility/index. shtml>, as of July 27, 2011.

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (2011b). *Minimum Hourly Wages for Canadian Adult Workers since* 1965. http://srv116.services.gc.ca/dimt-wid/sm-mw/menu.aspx?lang=eng>, as of July 27, 2011.

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (2010c). *Section IV—Recognition of Occupational Qualifications and Reconciliation of Occupational Standards*. http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/eng/cs/sp/hrsdc/lmp/mobility/9999-000057.pdf, as of July 27, 2011.

Industry Canada (2011). *Agreement on Internal Trade*. http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/ait-aci.nsf/eng/h_il00000.html, as of July 27, 2011.

Jolls, Christine (2007). *Employment Law and the Labor Market*. NBER Working Paper No. 13230. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Jones, C. Derek, and Niels Mygind (2002). Ownership and Productive Efficiency: Evidence from Estonia. *Review of Development Economics* 6, 2: 284–301.

Karabegović, Amela, Alex Gainer, and Niels Veldhuis (2009). *Labour Relations Laws in Canada and the United States: An Empirical Comparison (2009 Edition)*. Studies in Labour Markets. Fraser Institute.

Karabegović, Amela, Charles Lammam, and Niels Veldhuis (2010). *Did Government Stimulus Fuel Economic Growth in Canada? An Analysis of Statistics Canada Data*. Fraser Alert. Fraser Institute.

Karabegović, Amela, and Niels Veldhuis (2010). The "Great Recession"? *Fraser Forum* (May): 12–16.

Karabegović, Amela and Niels Veldhuis (2011). *Estimating the Economic Impact of British Columbia's Minimum Wage Increase*. Fraser Alert (April). <<u>http://www.fraserinstitute.org/></u>.

Kendrick, David (2001). *Midwest Right-to-Work States Still Outperform Forced Union States in Jobs & Real Income*. National Institute for Labor Relations Research.

Kiander, Jaakko, and Matti Viren (2001). Measuring Labor Market Flexibility in the OECD Countries. *Empirica* 28: 187–201.

Kleiner, Morris (2000). Occupational Licensing. *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 14, 4: 189–202.

Kleiner, Morris, and Hwikwon Ham (2002). *Do Industrial Relations Institutions Impact Economic Outcomes? International and U.S. State-Level Evidence*. NBER Working Paper No. 8729. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Knotek, S. Edward II, and Stephen Terry (2009). How Will Unemployment Fare Following the Recession? [Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City] *Economic Review* third quarter: 5–33. http://www.kansascityfed.org/Publicat/ EconRev/PDF/09q3knotek.pdf>.

Knox, Robert (2010). *Who Can Work Where: Reducing Barriers to Labour Mobility in Canada*. Backgrounder No. 13. C.D. Howe Institute. http://www.cdhowe.org/pdf/backgrounder_131.pdf>.

Knox, Robert, and Amela Karabegović (2009). *Myths and Realities of TILMA*. Fraser Institute.

Kornai, János (1992). *The Socialist System: The Political Economy of Communism*. Princeton University Press.

Kramer, Jonathan K., and Thomas Hyclak (2002). Why Strikes Occur: Evidence from the Capital Markets. *Industrial Relations* 41, 1: 80–93.

Krol, Robert, and Shirley Svorny (2007). Unions and Employment Growth: Evidence from State Economic Recoveries. *Journal of Labor Research* 28: 525–35.

Kuhn, Peter, and Chris Riddell (2006). *The Long-Term Effects of a Generous Income Support Program: Unemployment Insurance in New Brunswick and Maine, 1940–1991.* NBER Working Paper No. 11932. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Landon, Stuart (1997). High School Enrollment, Minimum Wages and Education Spending. *Canadian Public Policy* 23, 2: 141–63.

Laporta, Pasquale, and Alexander W. Jenkins (1996). Unionization and Profitability in the Canadian Manufacturing Sector. *Relations Industrielles* 51, 4: 756–76.

Law, Marc T. (1998). *The Economics of Minimum Wage*. Public Policy Sources No. 14. Fraser Institute.

Law, Marc T. (2000). *Productivity and Economic Performance: An Overview of the Issues*. Public Policy Sources No. 37. Fraser Institute.

Law, Marc, and Fazil Mihlar (1996). *The Federal Liberal Government in Action: A Report Card Issued to the Chretien Government*. Critical Issues Bulletin. Fraser Institute.

Law, Marc, and Sukkoo Kim (2004). *Specialization and Regulation: The Rise of Professionals and the Emergence of Occupational Licensing Regulation*. NBER Working Paper No. 10467. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Law, Marc, Howard Markowitz, and Fazil Mihlar (1997). *The Harris Government: A Mid-Term Review*. Critical Issues Bulletin. Fraser Institute.

Lee, David, and Alexandre Mas (2009). *Long-Run Impacts of Unions on Firms: New Evidence from Financial Markets, 1961–1999.* NBER Working Paper No. 14709. National Bureau of Economic Research

Lemieux, Thomas (1998). Estimating the Effects of Unionism on Wage Inequality in a Panel Data Model with Comparative Advantage and Nonrandom Selection. *Journal of Labor Economics* 16, 2: 261–91.

Long, James (1999). Updated Estimates of the Wage Mobility of Minimum Wage Workers. *Journal of Labor Research* 20, 4: 493–503.

Long, Richard (1993). The Effect of Unionization on Employment Growth of Canadian Companies. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46, 4 (July): 691–703.

MacDonald, M. Glenn, and John C. Evans (1981). The Size and Structure of Union–non-Union Wage Differentials in Canadian Industry. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 14, 2: 216–31.

Magnani, Elisabetta, and David Prentice (2006). Unionization and Input Flexibility in US Manufacturing, 1973–1996. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 59, 3 (April): 386–407.

Maki, Dennis R. (1983). The Effects of Unions and Strikes on the Rate of Growth of Total Factor Productivity in Canada. *Applied Economics* 15 (February): 29–41.

Maki, Dennis R., and L.N. Meredith (1986). The Effects of Unions on Profitability: The Canadian Evidence. *Relations Industrielles* 41: 55–67.

McDavid, James (1988). Privatizing Local Government Services in Canada. In M.A. Walker (ed.), *Privatization: Tactics and Techniques* (Fraser Institute): 101–16.

McHugh, Richard (1991). Productivity Effects of Strikes in Struck and Nonstruck Industries. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 44, 4: 716–26.

Megginson, William L., and Jeffery M. Netter (2001). From State to Market: A Survey of Empirical Studies on Privatization. *Journal of Economic Literature* 39, 2: 321–89.

Menezes-Filho, Aquino Naercio (1997). Unions and Profitability over the 1980s: Some Evidence on Union-Firm Bargaining in the United Kingdom. *Economic Journal* 107 (May): 651–70.

Metcalf, David (2003). Unions and Productivity, Financial Performance and Investment: International Evidence. In John Addison and Claus Schnabel (eds.), *International Handbook of Trade Unions* (Edward Elgar): 118–71.

Mihlar, Fazil (ed.) (1997). Unions and Right-to-Work Laws: The Global Evidence of Their Impact on Employment. Fraser Institute.

Moore, William J. (1985). The Effects of Right-to-Work Laws: A Review of the Literature. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 38 (July): 571–85.

Moore, William J. (1998). The Determinants and Effects of Right-to-Work Laws: A Review of the Recent Literature. *Journal of Labor Research* (Summer): 445–69.

Morissette, Rene, and Marie Drolet (2000). *To What Extent Are Canadians Exposed to Low-Income?* Statistics Canada no. 11F0019MPE No. 146. Analytical Studies Branch, Research Paper Series. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/ pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2000146-eng.pdf>, as of April 12, 2011. Mueller, E. Richard (2000). Public- and Private-Sector Wage Differentials in Canada Revisited. *Industrial Relations* 39, 3: 375–400.

Munro, Ian (2007, March 19). Bartender, Make Mine a TILMA. *Telegraph Journal*. http://www.aims.ca/regulatoryreform.asp?typelD=4&id=1594>, as of November 28, 2008.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (1995a). Minimum Wage Effects on Employment and School Enrollment. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 13: 199–206.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (1995b). Minimum Wage Effects on School and Work Transitions of Teenagers. *American Economic Review Paper and Proceedings* 85, 2 (May): 244–49.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (1996). The Effects of Minimum Wages on Teenage Employment and Enrollment: Evidence from Matched CPS Surveys. *Research in Labor Economics* 15: 250–63.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2000). The Effect of New Jersey's Minimum Wage Increase on Fast-Food Employment: A Reevaluation Using Payroll Records. *American Economic Review* 90, 5 (December): 1362–96.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2001). Minimum Wages and Training Revisited. *Journal of Labor Economics* 19, 3 (July): 563–95.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2003). Minimum Wages and Skill Acquisition: Another Look at Schooling Effects. *Economics of Education Review* 22: 1–10.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2004). Minimum Wages, Labor Market Institutions, and Youth Employment: A Cross-National Analysis. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 57, 2 (January): 223–48.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2006). *Minimum Wages and Employment: A Review of Evidence from the New Minimum Wage Research*. NBER Working Paper No. 12663. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2007). Minimum Wages and Employment. *Foundations and Trends in Microeconomics* 3, 1–2: 1–182.

New West Partnership (2011). *The NWPTA [New West Partnership Trade Agreement] - The Agreement.* http://www.newwestpartnershiptrade.ca/the_agreement.asp, as of May 6, 2011.

Newman, J. Robert (1983). Industry Migration and Growth in the South. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 65, 1 (February): 76–86.

Nickell, Stephen, L. Nunziata, and W. Ochel (2005). Unemployment in the OECD since the 1960s. What Do We Know? *Economic Journal* 115, 500: 1–27.

Ontario, Ministry of Economic Development and Trade (2011). *Ontario-Quebec Trade and Cooperation Agreement*. http://www.ontariocanada.com/ontcan/1medt/econdev/en/ed_ONQBagreement_main_en.jsp, as of May 6, 2011.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (1994a). *OECD Jobs Study: Facts, Analysis, Strategies*. OECD.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (1994b). *OECD Jobs Study: Part 1*. OECD.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (2003). *OECD Economic Outlook 73*. OECD.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (2006a). *Boosting Jobs and Incomes: Policy Lessons from Reassessing the OECD Jobs Strategy*. OECD.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (2006b). *OECD Employment Outlook: Boosting Jobs and Incomes*. OECD.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (2007). *OECD Employment Outlook*. OECD.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (2009). *OECD Employment Outlook: Tackling the Jobs Crisis*. OECD.

Palda, Filip (2000). Some Deadweight Losses from the Minimum Wage: The Cases of Full and Partial Compliance. *Labor Economics* 7: 751–83.

Pashigian, B. Peter (1979). Occupational Licensing and the Interstate Mobility of Professionals. *Journal of Law and Economics* 22, 1: 1–25.

Perry, Marc J. (2003). *State-to-State Migration Flows: 1995 to 2000*. United States Census Bureau, United States Department of Commerce. http://www.census.gov/population/www/cen2000/migration.html.

Persons, Obeua S. (1995). The Effects of Automobile Strikes on the Stock Value of Steel Suppliers. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 49, 1: 78–87.

Rama, Martin (2003). Globalization and the Labor Market. *World Bank Research Observer* 18, 2 (Winter): 159–86.

Reed, W. Robert (2003). How Right-To-Work Laws Affect Wages. *Journal of Labor Research* 24 (Fall): 713–30.

Riddell, Chris, Peter Kuhn, Jason Clemens, and Milagros Palacios (2006). Long-Term Effects of Generous Unemployment Insurance: Historical Study of New Brunswick and Maine, 1940–1990. Fraser Alert. Fraser Institute.

Sabia, J. Joseph, and Richard V. Burkhauser (2010). Minimum Wage and Poverty: Will a \$9.5 Federal Minimum Wage Really Help the Working Poor? *Southern Economic Journal* 76, 3: 592–623.

Salvanes, G. Kjell (1997). Market Rigidities and Labor Market Flexibility: An International Comparison. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 99, 2: 315–33.

Sanyal, Paroma, and Nidhiya Menon (2005). Labor Disputes and the Economics of Firm Geography: A Study of Domestic Investment in India. *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 53: 825–54.

Scarpetta, Stefano (1996). *Assessing the Role of Labor Market Policies and Institutional Settings on Unemployment: A Cross-Country Study*. OECD Economic Studies No. 26. OECD.

Schachter, Jason P. (2003). *Internal Migration of the Older Population: 1995 to 2000*. United States Census Bureau, United States Department of Commerce. <<u>http://www.census.gov/population/www/cen2000/migration/index.html</u>>.

Schiller, Bradley (1994). Moving Up: The Training and Wage Gains of Minimum-Wage Entrants. *Social Science Quarterly* 75, 3: 622–36.

Schleifer, Andrei (1998). State versus Private Ownership. *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 12, 2: 133–50.

Sen, Anindya, Kathleen Rybczynski, and Corey Van De Waal (2011). Teen Employment, Poverty, and the Minimum Wage: Evidence from Canada. *Labour Economics* 18: 36–47.

Simpson, Wayne (1985). The Impact of Unions on the Structure of Canadian Wages: An Empirical Analysis with Microdata. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 18, 1: 164–81.

Singh, Parbudyal, and Harish Jain (2001). Striker Replacement in the United States, Canada, and Mexico: A Review of the Law and Empirical Research. *Industrial Relations* (January): 22–53.

Smith, Ralph, and Bruce Vavrichek (1992). The Wage Mobility of Minimum Wage Workers. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46, 1: 82–88.

Statistics Canada (2007a). *Purchasing Power Parities and Real Expenditures, United States and Canada, 1992-2005.* Catalogue No. 13-604-MIE, No. 53. Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2007b). Number of Business Establishments in Canada, 2004. Special request; data received from Business Register, April 12, 2007.

Statistics Canada (2008a). *Demographic Estimates Compendium*. Catalogue No. 91-213-SCB (CD-ROM). Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2008b). *Report on the Demographic Situation in Canada*. Catalogue No. 91-209-X. Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2008c). *Glossary*. <http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/13-017-x/2008001/5213481-eng.htm>, as of March 16, 2010.

Statistics Canada (2009). *Income in Canada: 2007*. Cat. no. 75-202-X. Statistics Canada. <<u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-202-x/75-202-x2007000-eng.</u> pdf>, as of April 12, 2011.

Statistics Canada (2010). *Income in Canada: 2008*. Cat. no. 75-202-XWE. Statistics Canada. <<u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/bsolc/olc-cel/olc-cel?catno=75-202-x&lang=eng</u>>, as of April 12, 2011.

Statistics Canada (2011a). *Labour Force Historical Review 2010*. Catalogue No. 71F0004XVB (CD-ROM). Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2011b). Provincial Economic Accounts. Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2011c). *Quarterly Demographic Estimates*. Catalogue No. 91-002-XWE. Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2011d). *System of National Economic Accounts, Data Tables, Government Finance: Employment Wages and Salaries.* http://www.statcan.gc.ca/nea-cen/index-eng.htm, as of July 27, 2011.

Statistics Canada (2011e). Labour Force Survey, program A040903. Special request from Statistics Canada, received on February 11, 2011.

Statistics Canada (2011f). *National Income and Expenditure Accounts: Data Tables*. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/13-019-x/2011001/f1-eng.htm, as of July 29, 2011.

Statistics Canada (2011g). *Gross Domestic Product by Industry*. Catalogue No. 15-001-X. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/15-001-x/2010003/t003-eng.htm, as of July 29, 2011.

Statistics Canada (2011h). *The Daily*. Labour Force Survey. <http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/110204/dq110204a-eng.htm>.

Sussman, Deborah, and Martin Tabi (2004). *Minimum Wage Workers*. Catalogue No. 75-001-XIE. Statistics Canada.

Taras, Daphne, and Allen Ponak (2001). Mandatory Agency Shop Laws as an Explanation of Canada-US Union Density. *Journal of Labor Research* (Summer): 541–68.

The Council of State Governments (various editions). *The Book of States*. The Council of State Governments.

Thompson, Mark, Joseph B. Rose, and Anthony E. Smith (2003). *Beyond the National Divide: Regional Dimensions of Industrial Relations*. McGill-Queen's University Press.

Treasury Board of Canada (2007). *Expenditure Review of Federal Public* Sector Compensation Policy and Comparability (volumes 1, 2). http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/spsm-rgsp/er-ed/er-ed_e.asp.

Treff, Karin, and David B. Perry (2003). *2002 Finances of the Nation*. Canadian Tax Foundation.

United States Census Bureau (2010). *Population Change and Estimated Components of Population Change: April 1, 2000 to July 1, 2009* [dataset]. http://www.census.gov/popest/datasets.html, as of June 30, 2010.

United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (2011a). *Gross Domestic Product by State*. http://www.bea.gov/, as of July 27, 2011.

United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (2011b). Real GDP by State. http://www.bea.gov/, as of July 27, 2011.

United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (2011c). *National Economic Accounts*. , as of July 29, 2011.

United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (2011d). *Industry Economic Accounts, Gross-Domestic-Product-by-Industry Accounts.* http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action. http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action. http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action. http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action. http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action. http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action. http://www.bea.gov/industry/gpotables/gpo_action.

United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census (1994). *Geographic Areas Reference Manual*. United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.

United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2011a). Employed Persons by Class of Worker. Various Issues. Special request, sent by Thomas Krolik from Local Area Unemployment Statistics on May 26, 2011.

United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2011b). *Regional and State Employment and Unemployment.* http://www.bls.gov/lau/), as of July 27, 2011.

United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2011c). Unemployed Persons by Duration of Unemployment, Various Issues. Special request, sent by Thomas Krolik from Local Area Unemployment Statistics on May 26, 2011.

United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2011d). Work Stoppages by State, Collective Bargaining Agreements (CBA) Program. Special request, sent by Elizabeth Ashack on July 13, 2011. United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2011e). *Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey*. <http://www.bls.gov/cps/tables.htm#empstat>, July 29, 2011.

United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2011f). Local Area Unemployment Statistics. http://www.bls.gov/lau/rdscnp16. htm#data>.

United States Department of Labor, Employment Standards Administration, Wage and Hour Division (2010). *State Labor Offices*. http://www.dol.gov/dol/topic/wages/minimumwage.htm, as of June 30, 2010.

Vedder, Richard, and Lowell Gallaway (2002a). The Economic Effects of Labor Unions Revisited. *Journal of Labor Research* 23, 1 (Winter): 105–30.

Vedder, Richard, and Lowell Gallway (2002b). The Minimum Wage and Poverty among Full-Time Workers. *Journal of Labor Research* 23, 1 (Winter): 41–49.

Veldhuis, Niels, and Charles Lammam (2010). Research or Rhetoric? *Fraser Forum* (May): 20–23.

Veldhuis, Niels, and Jason Clemens (2006). *Productivity, Prosperity, and Business Taxes*. Studies in Economic Prosperity No. 3. Fraser Institute.

Williams, Nicolas, and Jeffrey A. Mills (2001). The Minimum Wage and Teenage Employment: Evidence from Time Series. *Applied Economics* 33: 285–300.

Wilson, William T. (2002). *The Effects of Right-to-Work Laws on Economic Development*. Mackinac Center for Public Policy. http://www.mackinac.org>.

Wood, James (2007, August 3). Business Groups Frustrated by TILMA Rejection. *Star Phoenix*: C8.

Employment Standards Acts

British Columbia

British Columbia, Ministry of Labour and Citizens' Services. *Employment Standards Act.* <<u>http://www.labour.gov.bc.ca/esb/></u>, as of July 25, 2008.

Alberta

Alberta, Employment and Immigration. *Alberta's Standards*. Last modified July 7, 2008. <<u>http://employment.alberta.ca/cps/rde/xchg/hre/hs.xsl/996.html</u>>, as of July 25, 2008.

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan, Advanced Education, Employment and Labour. *Labour Standards*. ">http://www.labour.gov.sk.ca/LS/>, as of July 25, 2008.

Manitoba

Manitoba, Labour and Immigration. *Employment Standards*. http://www.gov.mb.ca/labour/standards/, as of July 25, 2008.

Ontario

Ontario, Ministry of Labour. *Employment Standards*. <http://www.labour. gov.on.ca/english/es/>, as of July 25, 2008.

Quebec

Québec, Commission des Normes du Travail. *Labour Standards*. <http:// www.cnt.gouv.qc.ca/en/>, as of July 25, 2008.

New Brunswick

New Brunswick, Department of Post-Secondary Education, Training, and Labour. *Employment Standards*. http://www.gnb.ca/0308/index-e.asp, as of July 25, 2008.

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia, Labour and Workforce Development. *Employment Rights*. http://www.gov.ns.ca/lwd/employmentrights/>, as of July 25, 2008.

Prince Edward Island

Prince Edward Island, Communities, Cultural Affairs and Labour. *Employment Standards*. http://www.gov.pe.ca/commcul/lair-info/index.php3, as of July 25, 2008.

Newfoundland & Labrador

Newfoundland and Labrador, Labour Relations Agency. *Labour Standards*. http://www.hrle.gov.nl.ca/lra/labourstandards/default.htm, as of July 25, 2008.

About the authors

Alex Gainer

Alex Gainer is a research economist in the Fiscal Studies Department at the Fraser Institute. Since joining the Institute, he has worked on a range of policy issues, including labour relations, government failure, business creation, and charitable giving. Mr Gainer is coauthor of *Generosity in Canada and the United States: The 2008 Generosity Index* as well as *Saskatchewan Prosperity: Building on Success* and *Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States: 2010 Edition.* He holds a B.A. in Economics from the University of Alberta and an M.A. in Economics from the University of British Columbia.

Amela Karabegović

Amela Karabegović is a senior economist in the Fiscal Studies Department at the Fraser Institute. She holds a B.M. (Great Distinction) in General Management from the University of Lethbridge in Alberta, and an M.A. in Economics from Simon Fraser University in British Columbia. She is the author of *Institutions, Economic Growth and the "Curse" of Natural Resources* and a co-author of *Economic Freedom of North America, Economic Freedom of the Arab World, Myths and Realities of TILMA, Transparency of Labour Relations Boards in Canada and the United States, Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States, Measuring the Flexibility of Labour Relations Laws in Canada and the United States, Tax and Expenditure Limitations: The Next Step in Fiscal Discipline*, and the *Prosperity Series—Ontario*. From 2001 to 2009, Ms Karabegović assisted in the preparation of the Institute's annual report, *Economic Freedom of the World*.

Niels Veldhuis

Niels Veldhuis is vice president of research at the Fraser Institute and one of Canada's most influential, most-read private-sector economists. As an economist, Niels has written 5 books and over 50 comprehensive studies on a wide range of economic topics including taxation, banking, productivity, investment, entrepreneurship, labour markets and government finances. His latest book, *The Canadian Century: Moving Out of America's Shadow*, is a national bestseller published by Key Porter in May 2010.

Niels is in high demand for his opinions and perspectives on major economic and social issues, appearing regularly radio and television programs across Canada and the United States. He has written over 200 articles that have appeared in over 50 newspapers including the *Globe and Mail*, *Wall Street Journal*, and *Economist*. He also writes a bi-weekly column for the *Financial Post*. Niels is regularly asked to appear before committees of both the House of Commons and the Senate as an expert witness. He travels widely across North America, speaking to business groups, corporate gatherings, voluntary organizations and students. His speeches are humorous, educational, witty and thought-provoking.

Niels holds a B.A. in Business Administration, with joint majors in business and economics and an M.A. in Economics from Simon Fraser University. He was recently named one of Vancouver's "Top 40 under 40" by *Business in Vancouver*.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the supporters of the Fraser Institute who generously made resources available to undertake this study. We also thank Jason Clemens, Keith Godin, and Milagros Palacios for their work on previous editions of this study. We would like to express our sincerest appreciation to those who helped develop earlier editions of this project, including Professor Dennis Maki of Simon Fraser University; John Mortimer of Labour Watch; Mark Mullins, former Executive Director of the Fraser Institute; Paul Kersey of the Mackinac Center for Public Policy; and Jerry Jordan, Senior Fellow at the Fraser Institute and former president and CEO, Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland.

The authors would also like to acknowledge the work of Marc Law, Fazil Mihlar, and Professor Barry Hirsch on labour-related issues; their research established the foundation for this research project. In addition, we thank the many government employees in Canada and the United States who supplied information and patiently answered questions. Finally, we would like to thank the Publications Department of the Fraser Institute for their assistance and diligence.

The authors take full and complete responsibility for any remaining errors or omissions. As the authors have worked independently, the views expressed in this study do not necessarily represent the views of the supporters, trustees, or other staff of the Fraser Institute.

Publishing information

Periodically, the Fraser Institute publishes timely and comprehensive studies of current issues in economics and public policy. This study is one such example belonging to a series of related publications.

Distribution

These publications are available from <http://www.fraserinstitute.org> in Portable Document Format (PDF) and can be read with Adobe Acrobat[®] 7 or later or with Adobe Reader[®] 7 or later. Adobe Reader[®] X, the most recent version, is available free of charge from Adobe Systems Inc. and may be downloaded from: <http://get.adobe.com/reader/>. We encourage you to install the most recent version. Readers who have trouble viewing or printing our PDF files using applications from other manufacturers (e.g., Apple's Preview) should install and use Reader[®] or Acrobat[®].

Ordering publications

For information about ordering the printed publications of the Fraser Institute, please contact the publications coordinator via:

- e-mail: sales@fraserinstitute.org
- telephone: 604.688.0221 ext. 580 or, toll free, 1.800.665.3558 ext. 580
- fax: 604.688.8539.

Media

- For media inquiries, please contact our Communications Department via:
- telephone: 604.714.4582
- e-mail: communications@fraserinstitute.org.

Disclaimer

The author of this publication has worked independently and opinions expressed by him are, therefore, his own, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the supporters, trustees, or other staff of the Fraser Institute. This publication in no way implies that the Fraser Institute, its trustees, or staff are in favour of, or oppose the passage of, any bill; or that they support or oppose any particular political party or candidate.

Copyright

Copyright© 2011 by the Fraser Institute. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any manner whatsoever without written permission except in the case of brief passages quoted in critical articles and reviews.

ISSN

ISSN 1715-7439 Studies in Labour Markets

Date of issue September 2011

Citation

Amela Karabegović, Alex Gainer, Niels Veldhuis (2011). *Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States: 2011 Edition*. Fraser Institute.

Editing and design Lindsey Thomas Martin.

Cover design

Bill Ray

Supporting the Fraser Institute

To learn how to support the Fraser Institute, please contact

- Development Department, Fraser Institute Fourth Floor, 1770 Burrard Street Vancouver, British Columbia, V6J 3G7 Canada
- telephone, toll-free: 1.800.665.3558 ext. 586
- e-mail: development@fraserinstitute.org.

About the Fraser Institute

Our vision is a free and prosperous world where individuals benefit from greater choice, competitive markets, and personal responsibility. Our mission is to measure, study, and communicate the impact of competitive markets and government interventions on the welfare of individuals.

Founded in 1974, we are an independent Canadian research and educational organization with locations throughout North America and international partners in over 80 countries. Our work is financed by tax-deductible contributions from thousands of individuals, organizations, and foundations. In order to protect its independence, the Institute does not accept grants from government or contracts for research.

Nous envisageons un monde libre et prospère, où chaque personne bénéficie d'un plus grand choix, de marchés concurrentiels et de responsabilités individuelles. Notre mission consiste à mesurer, à étudier et à communiquer l'effet des marchés concurrentiels et des interventions gouvernementales sur le bien-être des individus.

Peer review

Validating the accuracy of our research

The Fraser Institute maintains a rigorous peer review process for its research. New research, major research projects, and substantively modified research conducted by the Fraser Institute are reviewed by a minimum of one internal expert and two external experts. Reviewers are expected to have a recognized expertise in the topic area being addressed. Whenever possible, external review is a blind process.

Commentaries and conference papers are reviewed by internal experts. Updates to previously reviewed research or new editions of previously reviewed research are not reviewed unless the update includes substantive or material changes in the methodology.

The review process is overseen by the directors of the Institute's research departments who are responsible for ensuring all research published by the Institute passes through the appropriate peer review. If a dispute about the recommendations of the reviewers should arise during the Institute's peer review process, the Institute has an Editorial Advisory Board, a panel of scholars from Canada, the United States, and Europe to whom it can turn for help in resolving the dispute.

Editorial Advisory Board

Members

Prof. Armen Alchian	Prof. Jack L. Granatstein
Prof. Terry L. Anderson	Prof. Herbert G. Grubel
Prof. Robert Barro	Prof. James Gwartney
Prof. Michael Bliss	Prof. Ronald W. Jones
Prof. James M. Buchanan†	Dr. Jerry Jordan
Prof. Jean-Pierre Centi	Prof. Ross McKitrick
Prof. John Chant	Prof. Michael Parkin
Prof. Bev Dahlby	Prof. Friedrich Schneider
Prof. Erwin Diewert	Prof. Lawrence B. Smith
Prof. Stephen Easton	Mr. Vito Tanzi
Prof. J.C. Herbert Emery	

Past members

Prof. Friedrich A. Hayek*†	Prof. George Stigler*†
Prof. H.G. Johnson*	Sir Alan Walters*
Prof. F.G. Pennance*	Prof. Edwin G. West*

* deceased; ** withdrawn; ⁺ Nobel Laureate